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JAMAICA TEACHERS’ ASSOCIATION CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED  
 

STATEMENT OF SURPLUS OR DEFICIT AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
 

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 
 

  
 Note 2024 2023 
  $’000 $’000 
 
INTEREST INCOME: 
   Loans  1,784,771 1,666,978 
   Liquid assets, resale agreements and financial investments     315,483    309,165 
 
  2,100,254 1,976,143 
 
INTEREST EXPENSE: 
   Members’ deposits  300,158 284,496 
   External credits   32,318 19,282 
   Members voluntary shares   234,542 218,002 
   Lease liabilities   3,090 5,391 
   Other finance cost        17,624      13,009 
   
     587,732    540,180 
 
NET INTEREST INCOME  1,512,522 1,435,963 
Impairment gains on liquid assets, resale agreements 
 and financial instruments   (           52) (       1,821) 
Impairment losses on loans, net of recoveries  12(c) (     53,922) (   103,407) 
 
NET INTEREST INCOME AFTER IMPAIRMENT   1,458,548 1,330,735 
Non-interest Income  7      75,511      58,364 
 
  1,534,059 1,389,099 
 
Operating expenses  8 (   684,430) (   648,155) 
Staff costs 9 (   590,554) (   537,221) 
 
  (1,274,984) (1,185,376) 
 
SURPLUS FOR THE YEAR      259,075    203,723 
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) 
Item that will never be reclassified to surplus: 
   Remeasurement of employment benefits asset  19(g) (     80,125) 99,485 
 
Items that may be reclassified to surplus: 
 Valuation loss on fair value through other comprehensive  
 income  (       3,572) (     21,678) 
 
   (     83,697)      77,807 
 
TOTAL COMPREHENISIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR      175,378    281,530 
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JAMAICA TEACHERS’ ASSOCIATION CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED  
 

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
 

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 
 

 INSTITUTIONAL CAPITAL                                      NON-INSTITUTIONAL CAPITAL                                               .  
 

         Employee   Fair    Permanent 
  Permanent Statutory Benefit Accumulated Value       Revaluation Share  
   Shares        Reserve Reserve Surplus Reserve Reserve Reserve Total  
 Note  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000  

  
BALANCE AT 31 DECEMBER 2022  89,509 2,697,342   57,813 790,235 80,190 9,430 2,778 3,727,297 
 
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR    
Surplus for the year        -    .        -       .      -      .     203,723     -     .    -    .    -    .       203,723  
 
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME:   
Remeasurement of employee benefits asset  19 -     -        -       99,485 -      -     -     99,485   
Change in fair value of debt instruments at FVOCI        -    .        -       .      -      .     -       . (21,678)    -    .    -    . (    21,678) 
 
Total other comprehensive income       -    .        -       .      -      .     99,485 (21,678)    -    .    -    .         77,807 
 
Total comprehensive income for the year        -    .        -       .      -      . 303,208 (21,678)    -    .    -    .   281,530 
    
Issue of permanent shares  2,741 -        -       -       -      -     -     2,741   
Transfer from permanent shares   (     257) -        -       -       -      -     257 -        
Transfer from employee benefits asset reserve  -     -        109,366 (109,366) -      -     -      -         
Transfer to statutory reserve:          
   From current year surplus  25 (b)  -     193,700 -       (193,700)       -      -     -     -        
   Entrance fees 25 (b) -     15 -       -       -      -     -     15 
Dividends  27      -    .        -       .      -      . (    6,256)     -     .    -    .    -    . (      6,256) 
 
    2,484    193,715 109,366 (309,322)     -     .    -    .       257 (      3,500) 
 
BALANCE AT 31 DECEMBER 2023 (page 7)  91,993 2,891,057 167,179 784,121 58,512 9,430 3,035 4,005,327
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JAMAICA TEACHERS’ ASSOCIATION CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED  
 

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
 

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 
 
  

                                                                                            INSTITUTIONAL CAPITAL                                                    NON-INSTITUTIONAL CAPITAL                                                       . 
 

         Employee   Fair    Permanent 
  Permanent Statutory Benefit Accumulated Value       Revaluation Share  
   Shares        Reserve Reserve Surplus Reserve Reserve Reserve Total  
 Note  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000  

  
 
BALANCE AT 31 DECEMBER 2023 (page 6)  91,993 2,891,057 167,179 784,121 58,512 9,430 3,035 4,005,327 
 
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR    
Surplus for the year        -    .        -       .      -      . 259,075     -     .    -    .    -    .    259,075 
 
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME:   
Remeasurement of employee benefits asset  19 -     -        -       (  80,125) -      -     -     (     80,125) 
Change in fair value of debt instruments at FVOCI        -    .        -       .      -      .     -       . (  3,572)    -    .    -    . (       3,572) 
 
Total other comprehensive loss       -    .        -       .      -      . (  80,125) (  3,572)    -    .    -    . (     83,697) 
 
Total comprehensive income for the year        -    .        -       .      -      . 178,950 (  3,572)    -    .    -    .    175,378 
    
Issue of permanent shares  3,388 -        -       -       -      -     -     3,388  
Transfer to permanent shares   35 -        -       -       -      -     (    35) -        
Transfer from employee benefits asset reserve  -     -        (  70,545) 70,545 -      -     -      -         
Transfer to statutory reserve:  -        -        -       -       -      -     -     -        
   From current year surplus  25 (b)  -     228,238 -             (228,238) -      -     -     -        
   Entrance fees 25 (b) -     20 -       -       -      -     -     20 
Dividends  27      -    .        -       .      -      . (    6,452)     -     .    -    .    -    . (       6,452) 
 
    3,423    228,258 (  70,545) (164,145)     -     .    -    .   (    35) (       3,044) 
 
BALANCE AT 31 DECEMBER 2024  95,416 3,119,315   96,634 798,926 54,940 9,430 3,000 4,177,661
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JAMAICA TEACHERS’ ASSOCIATION CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED  
 

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
 

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 
 
 2024  2023 
                                                                                           Note $’000 $’000  
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES: 
 Surplus for the year  259,075 203,723 
 Adjustments for: 
  Interest income (2,100,254) (1,976,143) 
  Interest expense  584,642 534,789 
  Interest expense on lease liabilities                                20(iii) 3,090 5,391 
    Amortisation of bond cost  1,176 -       
  Depreciation                                                                  14,17 31,653 33,987 
  Amortisation                                                                  18 4,564 7,335 
  Amortisation of right-of-use assets                                20(i) 22,004 21,312 
       Impairment gain on liquid assets, resale agreements 
   & financial investments  52 1,821 
       Realised losses on investments  -       17,589 
     Unrealised fair value gains on investments (      4,334) -        
       Employee benefits asset                                             19(f) 6,259 6,167 
  Impairment losses on loans, net of recoveries                  12(c)      53,922    103,407 
 
  Operating cash flows before movements in working capital (1,138,151) (1,040,622) 
 
   Changes in operating assets and liabilities  
  Loans (1,097,939) (1,253,319) 
      Other assets  (       2,064) (       7,805) 
    Pension contributions                                                          19(b) (     15,839) (     16,048) 
      Members’ deposits 396,919 396,662 
      Members’ voluntary shares 786,714 646,347 
      Payables      65,162      25,420 
 
   (1,005,198) (1,249,365)  
      Interest received  2,149,601 1,827,943 
      Interest paid  (   583,500) (   533,753) 
 
Net cash provided by operating activities     560,903      44,825 
 
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:  
    Purchase of property, plant and equipment                        17 (   169,783) (     41,184) 
  Purchase of intangible assets 18 (     12,058) -        
  Liquid assets  (   549,740) (   520,270) 
  Resale agreements  77,087 20,818 
  Financial investments       75,637    551,945 
 
Net cash (used in)/provided by investing activities  (   578,857)      11,309  
 
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES: 
   Permanent shares (net) 3,388 2,741 
   External credit repayment (     17,707) (       7,900) 
   Proceeds from external credit 256,379 -        
      Dividend paid                                                                      27 (      6,452) (       6,256) 
      Entrance fees  20 15 
      Repayment of leases liabilities                                            20(iv) (     28,237) (     24,423) 
 
Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities     207,391 (     35,823) 
 
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  189,437 20,311     
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year    133,636    113,325 
 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR                       15(a)    323,073    133,636 
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JAMAICA TEACHERS’ ASSOCIATION CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED  
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

 31 DECEMBER 2024 

 
 
1. IDENTIFICATION AND PRINICIPAL ACTIVITY: 
 

Jamaica Teachers’ Association Co-operative Credit Union Limited (“Co-operative”) is 
incorporated and domiciled in Jamaica and is registered under the Co-operative Societies Act 
(“Act”), and has its registered office at 97a Church Street, Kingston, Jamaica. 
 
The main activities of the Co-operative are to promote thrift among its members by affording 
them an opportunity to accumulate savings and to create for them a source of credit for 
provident or productive purposes at a reasonable rate of interest.  
 
Membership in the Co-operative is obtained by the holding of members’ permanent (note 25a) 
and voluntary shares which are deposits available for withdrawals on demand. Individual 
membership may not exceed 20% of the total of the members’ shares of the Co-operative. 

 
The Co-operative Societies Act requires, amongst other provisions, that at least 20% of the net 
surplus of the Co-operative be transferred annually to a reserve fund. The Co-operative is 
exempt from Income Tax under Section 59(i) of the Co-operative Societies Act and Section 12 
of the Income Tax Act. 
 

2. REPORTING CURRENCY: 
 

Items included in the financial statements of the Co-operative are measured using the currency 
of the primary economic environment in which the co-operative operates (“the functional 
currency”). 
 
These financial statements are presented in Jamaican dollars, which is considered the Co-
operative’s functional and presentation currency.  

 
3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES: 
 

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of the financial statements are set 
out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless 
otherwise stated. Amounts are rounded to the nearest thousands, unless otherwise stated.  

 
(a) Basis of preparation  
  
 These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International 

Financial Reporting Standards and International Accounting Standards as issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and Interpretations (collectively IFRS 
Accounting Standards). The financial statements have been prepared under the 
historical cost convention as modified by the revaluation of certain properties and 
financial assets that are measured at fair value or revalued amounts.  
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JAMAICA TEACHERS’ ASSOCIATION CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED  
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

31 DECEMBER 2024 

 
 

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D): 
 

(a) Basis of preparation (cont’d) 
  

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS Accounting Standards 
requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates.  It also requires management to 
exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Co-operative’s accounting policies. 
Although these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of current events 
and action actual results could differ from those estimates.  The areas involving a higher 
degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are 
significant to the financial statements are disclosed in note 4. 
 
New standards, interpretations and amendments that became effective during the 
year  
 
Certain new standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards have been 
published that became effective during the current financial year. The Co-operative has 
assessed the relevance of all such new standards, amendments and interpretation and 
has concluded that the following new standards, interpretations and amendments are 
relevant to its operations: 

IAS 7 ‘Statement of Cash Flows – Amendment’, issued May 2023 (effective for 

accounting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2024). These amendments 
require disclosures to enhance the transparency of supplier finance arrangements 
and their effects on an entity’s liabilities, cash flows, and exposure to liquidity 
risk. The disclosure requirements are the IASB’s response to investors’ concerns 
that some companies’ supplier finance arrangements are not sufficiently visible, 
hindering investors’ analysis. 

IAS 1 'Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-Current- Amendment', 
issued January 2020 (effective for accounting periods commencing on or after 1 
January 2024). These amendments clarify that liabilities are classified as either 
current or non-current based on a right to defer settlement having substance that 
exists at the end of the reporting period. Classification of a liability as non-current 
can be made if the group has a right to defer settlement for at least twelve months 
after the reporting period. The adoption of these amendments is not expected to 
have a significant impact on the Co-operative. 

There was no significant impact on the financial statements from the adoption of this 
amendments.  
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JAMAICA TEACHERS’ ASSOCIATION CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED  
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

31 DECEMBER 2024 

 
 

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D): 
 
 (a) Basis of preparation (cont’d) 

 
New standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are not 
yet effective and have not been early adopted 
 
At the date of authorization, there are a number of standards, amendments to standards 
and interpretations which have been issued by the IASB that are effective in future 
accounting periods that the Co-operative has decided not to adopt early. The most 
significant of these are: 
 

Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements which replaces IAS 1. IFRS 

18 is effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027. It 

introduces several new requirements that are expected to impact the presentation 

and disclosure of most, if not all, entities. These include: 

 

• The requirement to classify all income and expense into specific 

categories and provide specified totals and subtotals in the statement 

of surplus or deficit. 

 

• Enhanced guidance on the aggregation, location and labelling of items 

across the primary financial statements and the notes. 

 

• Mandatory disclosure about management-defined performance 

measures (a subset of alternative performance measures). 

 

IFRS 7 and 9 'Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments - 

Amendment', issued May 2024 (effective for accounting periods commencing on 

or after 1 January 2026). The amendment is to address matters identified during 

the post-implementation review of the classification and measurement requirements 

of IFRS 9 'Financial Instruments'. 

 
The Co-operative does not expect any other standards or interpretations issued by the 
IASB, but not yet effective, to have a material effect on its financial position. 

 
(b) Foreign currency translation  

 
Foreign currency transactions are accounted for at the exchange rates prevailing at the 
dates of the transactions. 
 
Monetary items denominated in foreign currency are translated to Jamaican dollars 
using the mid-point of the closing rate as at the reporting date. 
 
Exchange differences arising from the settlement of transactions at rates different 
from those at the dates of the transactions and unrealized foreign exchange 
differences on unsettled foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities are recognized 
in surplus or deficit.   
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JAMAICA TEACHERS’ ASSOCIATION CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED  
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

31 DECEMBER 2024 

 
 

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D): 
 

(c) Property, plant and equipment 
  

Items of property, plant and equipment are initially measured at cost, less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.  Cost includes expenditure that are 
directly attributable to the acquisition of the assets. The cost of self constructed assets 
includes the cost of material and direct labour, any other costs directly attributable to 
bringing the asset to a working condition for its intended use. 

  
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a 
separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits 
associated with the item will flow to the Co-operative and the cost of the item can be 
measured reliably. The carrying amount of any replaced part is derecognised. All other 
repairs and maintenance are charged to surplus or deficit during the financial period in 
which they are incurred. 

 
Depreciation is recognized in surplus or deficit on the straight line basis at such rates 
as will write down the carrying value of the assets over the period of their expected 
useful lives, to their residual values.  Land is not depreciated.  The expected useful 
lives of the other property, plant and equipment are as follows: 
 
 Buildings      2 ½%  
 Leasehold improvements   10% 
 Office furniture and equipment   10% - 25%  
 
Gains and losses on disposals of property, plant and equipment are determined by 
reference to their carrying amounts and are taken into account in determining surplus 
or deficit. 

 
The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed and adjusted if appropriate, 
at each reporting date. 

  
(d) Intangible assets 

  
Intangible assets represent software rights and is measured at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and impairment losses. Amortisation method, useful life and residual 
value are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if appropriate with the effect 
of any changes in the estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis. 
 
Amortisation is charged to surplus or deficit on the straight-line over the estimated 
useful life of the intangible asset, from the date it is available for use. The expected 
useful life of computer software is 10 years.  

 
(e) Financial instruments  

 
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity 
and financial liability or equity instrument of another entity. 
 
Financial assets comprise loans to members, liquid assets, resale agreements, financial 
investments, cash and cash equivalents and other assets. 
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JAMAICA TEACHERS’ ASSOCIATION CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED  
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

31 DECEMBER 2024 

 
 

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D): 
 

(e) Financial instruments (cont’d) 
 

Financial liabilities comprise lease liabilities, bank overdraft, members’ voluntary shares, 
members’ deposits, external credits and other payables. 

 
(i) Recognition and initial measurement 

  
Financial instruments are classified, recognised and measured in accordance with 
the substance of the terms of the contracts as set out herein. 

 
The Co-operative recognises a financial instrument when it becomes a party to the 
contractual terms of the instrument. The Co-operative initially recognises loans 
and deposits on the date when they are originated.  All other financial assets and 
financial liabilities are initially recognised on the trade date, which is the date on 
which the Co-operative becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 
instrument. 

 
A financial asset (unless it is a receivable without a significant financing 
component) or financial liability is initially measured at fair value plus, for an 
item not at FVTPL, transaction costs that are directly attributable to its 
acquisition or issue.  A receivable without a significant financing component is 
initially measured at the transaction price. 

 
 (ii)  Classification and subsequent measurement 
 
 Financial assets  
 

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at: amortised 
cost; fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) – debt and equity 
investments; or fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL).  

 
A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following 
conditions and is not designated as at FVTPL: 

 
- it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect 

contractual cash flows; and 
 

-     its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest (SPPI) on the principal amount 
outstanding.  
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JAMAICA TEACHERS’ ASSOCIATION CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED  
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

31 DECEMBER 2024 

 
 

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D): 
 

(e) Financial instruments (cont’d) 
 
 (ii)  Classification and subsequent measurement (cont’d) 
 
 Financial assets (cont’d) 
 

A debt investment is measured at FVOCI if it meets both of the following 
conditions and is not designated as at FVTPL: 

 
- it is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both 

collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets; and 
 

- its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are SPPI 
on the principal amount outstanding. 

 
On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Co-
operative may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value in 
other comprehensive income. This election is made on an investment-by-
investment basis. 

 
All financial assets not classified as measured at amortised cost or FVOCI are 
measured at FVTPL.  On initial recognition, the Co-operative may irrevocably 
designate a financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements to be measured 
at amortised cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly 
reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise. 

 
Business model assessments: 

 
The Co-operative makes an assessment of the objective of the business model in 
which a financial asset is held at a portfolio level because this best reflects the 
way the business is managed and information is provided to management. The 
information considered includes:   

 
- the stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of 

those policies in practice. These include whether management’s strategy 
focuses on earning contractual interest income, maintaining a particular 
interest rate profile, matching the duration of the financial assets to the 
duration of any related liabilities that are funding these assets or realizing 
cash flows through the sale of the assets; 

 
- how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Co-

operative’s management; 
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JAMAICA TEACHERS’ ASSOCIATION CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED  
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

31 DECEMBER 2024 

 
 

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D): 
 

(e) Financial instruments (cont’d) 
 
 (ii)  Classification and subsequent measurement (cont’d) 
 
  Financial assets (cont’d) 
 
   Business model assessments (cont’d) 

 
- the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial 

assets held within that business model) and how those risks are managed; 
 

- how managers of the business are compensated – e.g. whether compensation 
is based on the fair value of the assets managed or the contractual cash flows 
collected; and 
 

- the frequency, volume and timing of sales of financial assets in prior periods, 
the reasons for such sales and expectations about future sales activity.  
However, the information about sales activity is not considered in isolation, 
but as part of an overall assessment of how the Co-operative’s stated 
objective for managing the financial assets is achieved and how cash flows are 
realized. 

 
Assessment of whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and 
interest: 
 
For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the 
financial asset on initial recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the 
time value of money and for the credit risk associated with the principal amount 
outstanding during a particular period of time and for other basic lending risks and 
costs (e.g. liquidity risk and administrative costs), as well as a profit margin.  
 
The Co-operative’s objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows 
and selling financial assets. 
 
In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal 
and interest, the Co-operative considers the contractual terms of the instrument. 
This includes assessing whether the financial asset contains a contractual term 
that could change the timing or amount of contractual cash flows such that it 
would not meet this condition. In making this assessment, the Co-operative 
considers the following: 
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JAMAICA TEACHERS’ ASSOCIATION CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED  
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

31 DECEMBER 2024 

 
 

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D): 
 

(e) Financial instruments (cont’d) 
 
 (ii)  Classification and subsequent measurement (cont’d) 
 
 Financial assets ( cont’d)  
 

Assessment of whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and 
interest (cont’d): 
 
- contingent events that would change the amount or timing of cash flows; 
 
- terms that may adjust the contractual coupon rate, including variable-rate 

features; 
 
- leverage features, that modify consideration of the time value of money such 

as periodic reset of interest rates; 
 

- prepayment and extension features; and 
 

- terms that limit the Co-operative’s claim to cash flows from specified assets 
(e.g. non-recourse features). 

 
A prepayment feature is consistent with the SPPI criterion if the prepayment 
amount substantially represents unpaid amounts of principal and interest on the 
principal amount outstanding, which may include reasonable additional 
compensation for early termination of the contract. Additionally, for a financial 
asset acquired at a discount or premium to its contractual par amount, a feature 
that permits or requires prepayment at an amount that substantially represents 
the contractual par amount plus accrued (but unpaid) contractual interest (which 
may also include reasonable additional compensation for early termination) is 
treated as consistent with this criterion if the fair value of the prepayment feature 
is insignificant at initial recognition. 

 
 Reclassifications 

 
Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition, except 
in the period after the Co-operative changes its business model for managing 
financial assets, in which case all affected financial assets are reclassified on the 
first reporting period following the change in business model. 

 
 Financial liabilities 

 
 The Co-operative classifies financial liabilities as measured at amortised cost. 
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JAMAICA TEACHERS’ ASSOCIATION CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED  
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

31 DECEMBER 2024 

 
 

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D): 
 

(e) Financial instruments (cont’d) 
 

(iii)    Derecognition  
 
 Financial assets 
 

The Co-operative derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the 
cash flows from the financial asset expire, or when it transfers the rights to receive 
the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially all of the risks and 
rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred, or if it neither transfers 
nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership and it does not 
retain control over the transferred financial asset. 

 
On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount 
of the asset (or the carrying amount allocated to the portion of the asset 
derecognised) and the sum of (i) the consideration received (including any new asset 
obtained less any new liability assumed) and (ii) any cumulative gain or loss that had 
been recognised in OCI is recognised in surplus or deficit. 

 
Any cumulative gains or losses recognised in OCI in respect of equity investment 
securities designated as at FVOCI is not recognised in surplus or deficit on 
derecognition of such securities. Any interest in transferred financial assets that 
qualify for derecognition that is created or retained by the Co-operative is 
recognised as a separate asset or liability. 

 
Financial liabilities 
 
The Co-operative derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations 
expire or are discharged or cancelled. 
 

(iv)     Measurement and gains and losses 
 
Financial assets at amortised cost are initially measured at fair value plus 
incremental direct transaction costs, and subsequently at their amortised cost 
using the effective interest method. The amortised cost is reduced by impairment 
losses.  
 
For debt securities measured at FVOCI, gains and losses are recognised in OCI, 
except for the following, which are recognised in surplus or deficit in the same 
manner as for financial assets measured at amortised cost: 
 
- interest revenue using the effective interest method; 
 
- expected credit losses (ECL) and reversals; and 
 
- foreign exchange gains and losses. 
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JAMAICA TEACHERS’ ASSOCIATION CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED  
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

31 DECEMBER 2024 

 
 

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D): 
 

(e) Financial instruments (cont’d) 
 
(iv)  Measurement and gains and losses (cont’d) 

 
When a debt security measured at FVOCI is derecognised, the cumulative gain or 
loss previously recognised in OCI is reclassified from equity to surplus or deficit. 

 
 (v)  Offsetting 

 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in 
the statement of financial position when, and only when, the Co-operative has a 
legally enforceable right to set off the amounts and it intends either to settle them 
on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

 
 (vi)  Specific financial instruments 

 
 (1)  Loans 

 
Loans in the statement of financial position include loans measured at 
amortised cost.  They are initially measured at fair value, plus incremental 
direct transaction costs and are subsequently measured at amortised cost less 
any expected credited loss allowance. 

 
 (2)  Resale agreements 

 
Resale agreements ("reverse repos") are short-term transactions whereby an 
entity buys securities and simultaneously agrees to resell them on a specified 
date and at a specified price.  Reverse repos are accounted for as short-term 
collateralised lending and are classified and measured at amortised cost. 

 
The difference between the sale and repurchase consideration is recognised on 
the accrual basis over the period of the transaction and is included in interest 
income. 

 
 (3) Cash and cash equivalents 

 
Cash and cash equivalents are classified and measured at amortised cost.  They 
comprise cash and bank balances and short-term liquid deposits, where 
original maturities do not exceed three months, are readily convertible to 
known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, 
and are held for the purpose of meeting short-term commitments, rather than 
for investment purposes. 

 
For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents 
comprise cash in hand and bank deposits not held to satisfy statutory 
requirements, net of bank overdraft, if any. 
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D): 
 

(e) Financial instruments (cont’d) 
 

(vi)  Specific financial instruments (cont’d) 
 

 (4)  Other assets 
 

Other assets comprising sundry receivables, deposits and prepayments are 
classified and measured at amortised cost less impairment losses.  

 
 (5)  Other liabilities 

 
Other liabilities comprise other payables and are measured at amortised cost.  

 
 (6)  External credits 

 
External credits are initially recognised at fair value less any directly 
attributable transaction costs.  Subsequent to initial recognition, they are 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

 
 (vii)    Identification and measurement of impairment 

 
The Co-operative recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses (ECL) on the 
following financial instruments that are not measured at FVTPL: 

 

• financial assets measured at amortised cost; and 
 

• debt instruments measured at FVOCI. 
 

No impairment loss is recognised on equity investments. 
 

The Co-operative measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECL, 
except for the following, which are measured as 12-month ECL: 

 

• debt securities that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting 
date; and 

 

• other financial instruments on which credit risk has not increased significantly 
since their initial recognition. 

 
The Co-operative considers a debt security to have low credit risk when its credit 
risk rating is equivalent to the globally understood definition of ‘investment grade’. 
The Co-operative does not apply the low credit risk exemption to any other financial 
instruments.   
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D): 
 

(e) Financial instruments (cont’d) 
 
  (vii)    Identification and measurement of impairment (cont’d) 
 

12-month ECLs are the portion of ECLs that result from default events on a financial 
instrument that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date (or a shorter 
period if the expected life of the instrument is less than 12 months). Financial 
instruments for which a 12-month ECL is recognised are referred to as ‘Stage 1 
financial instruments’. 

 
Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible default events over the 
expected life of a financial instrument. Financial instruments for which a lifetime 
ECL is recognised but which are not credit-impaired are referred to as ‘Stage 2 
financial instruments’. 

 
 Measurement of ECLs 
 

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. They are measured as 
follows: 

 

• financial assets that are not credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the 
present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash 
flows due to the entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows 
that the Co-operative expects to receive); and 

 

• financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the 
difference between the gross carrying amount and the present value of 
estimated future cash flows. 

 
  Restructured financial assets  
 

If the terms of a financial asset are renegotiated or modified or an existing financial 
asset is replaced with a new one due to financial difficulties of the borrower, then 
an assessment is made of whether the financial asset should be derecognised and 
ECLs are measured as follows: 

 

• If the expected restructuring will not result in derecognition of the existing 
asset, then the expected cash flows arising from the modified financial asset 
are included in calculating the cash shortfalls from the existing asset. 
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D): 
 

(e) Financial instruments (cont’d) 
 
  (vii)   Identification and measurement of impairment (cont’d) 
 
 Restructured financial assets (cont’d): 
 

• If the expected restructuring will result in derecognition of the existing asset, 
then the expected fair value of the new asset is treated as the final cash flow 
from the existing financial asset at the time of its derecognition. This amount is 
included in calculating the cash shortfalls from the existing financial asset that 
are discounted from the expected date of derecognition to the reporting date 
using the original effective interest rate of the existing financial asset. 

 
 Credit-impaired financial assets  

 
At each reporting date, the Co-operative assesses whether financial assets carried at 
amortised cost and debt instruments carried at FVOCI are credit-impaired (referred 
to as ‘Stage 3 financial assets’). A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or 
more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of 
the financial asset have occurred.   

 
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable 
data: 

 
-   significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer; 

 
-   a breach of contract such as a default or past due event; 

 
-   the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Co-operative on terms that the Co-

operative would not otherwise consider; 
 

-   it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial 
reorganisation; or 

 
-  the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial      

difficulties. 
 

A loan that has been renegotiated due to a deterioration in the borrower’s condition 
is usually considered to be credit-impaired unless there is evidence that the risk of 
not receiving contractual cash flows has reduced significantly and there are no other 
indicators of impairment. In addition, a loan that is overdue for 90 days or more is 
considered credit-impaired even when the regulatory definition of default is 
different.   
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D): 
 

(e) Financial instruments (cont’d) 
 
  (vii)   Identification and measurement of impairment (cont’d) 
 
 Credit-impaired financial assets (cont’d): 
 

In making an assessment of whether an investment in sovereign debt is credit-
impaired, the Co-operative considers the following factors. 

 
-  The market’s assessment of creditworthiness as reflected in the bond yields. 

 
-        The rating agencies’ assessments of creditworthiness. 

 
-        The country’s ability to access the capital markets for new debt issuance. 

 
-       The probability of debt being restructured, resulting in holders suffering losses 

through voluntary or mandatory debt forgiveness. 
 

-     The international support mechanisms in place to provide the necessary support 
as ‘lender of last resort to that country, as well as the intention, reflection in 
public statements, of governments and agencies to use those mechanisms. 
This includes an assessment of the depth of those mechanisms and 
irrespective of the political intent, whether there is the capacity to fulfil the 
required criteria.  

 
Presentation of allowance for ECL in the statement of financial position 

 
Loss allowances for ECL are presented in the statement of financial position as 
follows: 

 
-      financial assets measured at amortised cost: as a deduction from the gross 

carrying amount of the assets.  
 

-      debt instruments measured at FVOCI:  no loss allowance is recognised in the 
statement of financial position because the carrying amount of these assets is 
their fair value. However, the loss allowance is disclosed and is recognised in 
the fair value reserve. 

 
Write-off 

 
Loans and debt securities are written off (either partially or in full) when there is no 
reasonable expectation of recovering a financial asset in its entirety or a portion 
thereof. This is generally the case when the Co-operative determines that the 
borrower does not have assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient 
cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off. This assessment is carried 
out at the individual asset level. 
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D): 
 

(e) Financial instruments (cont’d) 
 
  (vii)   Identification and measurement of impairment (cont’d) 
 

Write-off (cont’d): 
 

Recoveries of amounts previously written off are included in ‘impairment losses on 
financial instruments’ in surplus or deficit. 

 
Financial assets that are written off could still be subject to enforcement activities 
in order to comply with the Co-operative’s procedures for recovery of amounts due. 

 
The guidelines stipulated by the Jamaica Co-operative Credit Union League 
(“JCCUL”), according to the PEARLS standard, require the allowance for loan losses 
be stipulated percentages of total delinquent loans, the percentages varying with 
the period of delinquency, without considering securities held against such loans. 

 
The Co-operative’s impairment loss provision requirements, as stipulated by JCCUL, 
that exceed the IFRS impairment provision are dealt with in a non-distributable loan 
loss reserve as an appropriation of accumulated surplus. 

 
(f) Employee benefits 

 
(i) General 

 
Employee benefits are all forms of consideration given by the Co-operative in 
exchange for services rendered by employees.  These include current or short-term 
benefits such as salaries, bonuses, National Insurance Scheme (NIS) contributions, 
annual vacation leave, and non-monetary benefits such as medical care; post-
employment benefits such as pensions; and other long-term employee benefits such 
as termination benefits. 

 
Employee benefits that are earned as a result of past or current service are 
recognised in the following manner: short-term employee benefits are recognised as 
a liability, net of payments made, and charged as expense. The expected cost of 
vacation leave that accumulates is recognised when the employee becomes entitled 
to the leave.   

 
Employee benefits are all forms of consideration given by the Co-operative in 
exchange for services rendered by employees.  These include current or short-term 
benefits such as salaries, bonuses, National Insurance Scheme (NIS) contributions, 
annual vacation leave, and non-monetary benefits such as medical care; post-
employment benefits such as pensions; and other long-term employee benefits such 
as termination benefits. 
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D): 
 

(f) Employee benefits (cont’d) 
 

(i) General (cont’d) 
 

Employee benefits that are earned as a result of past or current service are 
recognised in the following manner: short-term employee benefits are recognised 
as a liability, net of payments made, and charged as expense. The expected cost 
of vacation leave that accumulates is recognised when the employee becomes 
entitled to the leave.   

 
(ii) Pension benefits  

 
The employees of the Co-operative participate in a defined benefit multi-employer 
pension plan operated by The Jamaica Co-operative Credit Union League (JCCUL).  
Effective 31 December 2016, the defined benefit pension plan was closed to new 
members.  New members to the plan participate in a defined contribution multi-
employer pension plan operated by JCCUL [see note 9]. 

 
Obligations for contributions to the defined contribution plan are recognised as an 
expense in surplus or deficit as incurred. 

 
Employee benefits asset included in the financial statements has been actuarially 
determined by a qualified independent actuary, appointed by JCCUL. The 
appointed actuary’s report outlines the scope of the valuation and the actuary’s 
opinion.  The actuarial valuation is conducted in accordance with IAS 19, and the 
financial statements reflect the Co-operative’s employee benefits asset as 
computed by the actuary.  In carrying out their audit, the auditors rely on the 
work of the actuary and the actuary’s report. 

 
The calculation of defined benefit obligation is performed annually using the 
projected unit credit method.  When the calculation results in a potential asset for 
the Co-operative, the recognised asset is limited to the present value of economic 
benefits available in the form of any future refunds from the plan or reductions in 
future contributions to the plan.  To calculate the present value of economic 
benefits, consideration is given to any applicable minimum funding requirements. 

 
Remeasurements of the net defined benefit asset, which comprise actuarial gains 
and losses, the return on plan assets (excluding interest) and the effect of the 
asset ceiling (if any, excluding interest), are recognised immediately in other 
comprehensive income.  The Co-operative determines the net interest expense 
(income) on the net defined benefit asset for the period by applying the discount 
rate used to measure the defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the annual 
period to the then net defined benefit asset, taking into account any changes in 
the net defined benefit asset during the period as a result of contributions and 
benefit payments.  Net interest expense and other expenses related to defined 
benefit plans are recognised in surplus or deficit. 
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D): 
 

(g) Investment property 
 

Investment property comprised properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital 
appreciation, and are measured at cost less any accumulated depreciation and impairment 
losses. 

 
The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an investment property is 
determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the 
property and is recognised in surplus or deficit.  

 
Investment property, other than land, is depreciated on a straight-line basis over its 
estimated useful life at 2½%. 

 
Rental income on the properties is recognised in surplus or deficit on a straight-line basis 
over the life of the lease agreement. 

 
(h) Leases 

 
At inception of a contract, the Co-operative assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a 
lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use 
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. To assess whether a 
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset, the Co-operative uses 
the definition of a lease in IFRS 16.  

 
As a lessee 

 
At commencement or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the 
Co-operative allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the 
basis of its relative stand‑alone prices.  Therefore, for leases of property, the Co-operative 
has elected to separate non-lease components and account for these separately. 

 

The Co-operative recognizes a right‑of‑use asset and a lease liability at the lease 
commencement date. The right‑of‑use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises 
the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments made at or before 
the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs to 
dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on 
which it is located, less any lease incentives received. 

 

The right‑of‑use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight‑line method from the 
commencement date to the end of the lease term, unless the lease transfers ownership of 
the underlying asset to the Co-operative by the end of the lease term or the cost of the 

right‑of‑use asset reflects that the Co-operative will exercise a purchase option. In that 

case the right‑of‑use asset will be depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset, 
which is determined on the same basis as those of property, plant and equipment. In 
addition, the right‑of‑use asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and 
adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability. 
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D): 
 

(h) Leases (cont’d) 
 

As a lessee 
 

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are 
not paid at the commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease 
or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, the Co-operative’s incremental borrowing 
rate. Generally, the Co-operative uses its incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate. 

 
The Co-operative determines its incremental borrowing rate by obtaining interest rates 
from various external financing sources and makes certain adjustments to reflect the terms 
of the lease and type of the asset leased. 

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following: 

– fixed payments, including in‑substance fixed payments; 

– variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the 
index or rate as at the commencement  date; 

– amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; and 

– the exercise price under a purchase option that the Co-operative is reasonably certain 
to exercise, lease payments in an optional renewal period if the Co-operative is 
reasonably certain to exercise an extension option, and penalties for early termination 
of a lease unless the Co-operative is reasonably certain not to terminate early. 

 
The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is 
remeasured when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an 
index or rate, if there is a change in the Co-operative’s estimate of the amount expected to 
be payable under a residual value guarantee, if the Co-operative changes its assessment of 
whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or termination option or if there is a revised 

in‑substance fixed lease payment. 
 

When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to 

the carrying amount of the right‑of‑use asset, or is recorded in surplus or deficit if the 

carrying amount of the right‑of‑use asset has been reduced to zero. 
 

The Co-operative presents right‑of‑use assets that do not meet the definition of investment 
property in the statement of financial position. 

 
Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets 

 

The Co-operative has elected not to recognize right‑of‑use assets and lease liabilities for 

leases of low‑value assets and short‑term leases. The Co-operative recognizes the lease 
payments associated with these leases as an expense on a straight‑line basis over the lease 
term. 
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D): 
 

(h) Leases (cont’d): 
 

As a lessor 
 

At inception or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the Co-
operative allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis 
of their relative stand-alone prices. 

 
When the Co-operative acts as a lessor, it determines at lease inception whether each 
lease is a finance lease or an operating lease. 

 
To classify each lease, the Co-operative makes an overall assessment of whether the lease 
transfers substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the 
underlying asset. If this is the case, then the lease is a finance lease, if not, then it is an 
operating lease. As part of this assessment, the Co-operative considers certain indicators 
such as whether the lease is for the major part of the economic life of the asset. In the 
Co-operative’s capacity as a lessor, all its leases are classified as operating leases. 

 
If an arrangement contains lease and non-lease components, then the Co-operative applies 
IFRS 15 to allocate the consideration in the contract. 

 
The Co-operative recognises lease payments received under operating leases as income on 
a straight line basis over the lease term as part of non-interest income. 

 
(i) Members’ shares 

 
(i) Permanent shares 

 
Permanent shares may be transferred by a member to another but are not 
available for withdrawal. Permanent shares are classified as equity. 

 
(ii) Voluntary shares 

 
Members’ voluntary shares represent deposit holdings of the Co-operative’s 
members, to satisfy membership requirements and to facilitate eligibility for loans 
and other benefits.  These shares are classified as financial liabilities and are 
measured at amortised cost. Interest payable on these shares is reported as 
interest in surplus or deficit.  

 
(j) Provisions 

 
Provisions are recognised when the Co-operative has a present, legal or constructive 
obligation as a result of past events, if it is probable that an outflow of resources 
embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable 
estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made. 
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D): 
 

(k) Revenue recognition 
 

(i) Interest income 
 

Effective interest rate 
 

Interest income is recognised in surplus or deficit using the effective interest 
method.  The ‘effective interest rate’ is the rate that exactly discounts the 
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to 
its gross carrying amount. 

 
When calculating the effective interest rate for financial instruments other than 
purchased or originated credit impaired assets, the Co-operative estimates future 
cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument, but not 
ECL. For purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets, a credit-
adjusted effective interest rate is calculated using estimated future cash flows 
including ECL. 

 
The calculation of the effective interest rate includes transaction costs and fees 
and points paid or received that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. 
Transaction costs include incremental costs that are directly attributable to the 
acquisition of a financial asset. 

 
Amortised cost and gross carrying amount 

 
The ‘amortised cost’ of a financial asset is the amount at which the financial asset 
is measured on initial recognition minus the principal repayments, plus or minus 
the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of any difference 
between that initial amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for any expected 
credit loss allowance. 

 
The ‘gross carrying amount of a financial asset’ is the amortised cost of a financial 
asset before adjusting for any expected credit loss allowance. 

 
Calculation of interest income 

 
The effective interest rate of a financial asset is calculated on initial recognition 
of a financial asset. In calculating interest income, the effective interest rate is 
applied to the gross carrying amount of the asset (when the asset is not credit-
impaired). The effective interest rate is revised as a result of periodic re-
estimation of cash flows of floating rate instruments to reflect movements in 
market rates of interest. 
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D): 
 

(k) Revenue recognition (cont’d): 
 

(i) Interest income (cont’d) 
 

Calculation of interest income (cont’d): 
 

However, for financial assets that have become credit-impaired subsequent to 
initial recognition interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest 
rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset. If the asset is no longer credit-
impaired, then the calculation of interest income reverts to the gross basis. 

 
Under the regulatory requirements, no interest is recognised on loans that are in 
arrears from 90 days or more, even if they are not credit-impaired (see also note 
12). 

 
For financial assets that were credit-impaired on initial recognition, interest 
income is calculated by applying the credit adjusted effective interest rate to the 
amortised cost of the asset. The calculation of interest income does not revert to 
the gross basis even if the credit risk of the asset improves.  

 
Presentation 

 
Interest income calculated using the effective interest method presented in   
surplus or deficit, includes interest on financial assets measured at amortised cost, 
and interest on debt instruments measured at FVOCI.  

 
(ii) Fees and commission 

  
Fee and commission income from contracts with customers is measured based on 
the consideration specified in a contract with a customer. The Co-operative 
recognises revenue when it transfers control over a service to a customer. 
 
Fee and commission income that are integral to the effective interest rate on 
financial assets are included in the effective interest rate. 

 
If a loan commitment is not expected to result in the draw down of a loan, then 
the related loan commitment fee is recognized on a straight-line basis over the 
commitment period.  

 
Fee and commission income including account service fees are recognized as the 
related services are performed. 
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D): 
 

(k) Revenue recognition (cont’d): 
 

(ii) Fees and commission (cont’d) 
 

 A contract with a customer that results in a recognised financial instrument in the 
Co-operatives financial statements may be partially in the scope of IFRS 9 and 
partially in the scope of IFRS 15. If this is the case, then the Co-operatives first 
applies IFRS 9 to separate and measure the part of the contract that is in the scope 
of IFRS 9 and then applies IFRS 15 to the residual.  

 
The nature and timing of the satisfaction of performance obligations in contracts with 
customers, including significant payment terms, and the related revenue recognition 
policies are as follows: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Type of 
service 

Nature and timing of satisfaction of 
performance obligations, including 
significant payment terms. 

 
Revenue recognition under 
IFRS 15. 

 
Service fees 
 
 
 

 
Transaction-based fees such as 
credit bureau fees are charged to 
the customers’ accounts when the 
transaction takes place. 
 
Servicing fees are charged on a 
monthly basis and are based on fixed 
rate determined by the Co-
operatives. 
 
 
 
 

 

 
Revenue from account 
services and servicing fees is 
recognised over time as the 
services are provided. 
 
Revenue related to 
transactions is recognised at 
the point in time when the 
transaction takes place. 
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D): 
 

(k) Revenue recognition (cont’d): 
 

(iii) Dividends 
 

Dividend income from equity financial investments is recognised when the Co-
operative’s right to receive payment has been established. 

 
(l) Interest expense 

 
Interest expense is recognised in surplus or deficit using the effective interest method. The 
‘effective interest rate’ is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments 
through the expected life of the financial instrument to the amortised cost of the financial 
liability.  

 
The calculation of the effective interest rate includes transaction costs and fees that are an 
integral part of the effective interest rate. Transaction costs include incremental costs that 
are directly attributable to the issue of a financial liability. 

 
The ‘amortised cost’ of a financial liability is the amount at which the financial liability is 
measured on initial recognition minus the principal repayments, plus or minus the 
cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of any difference between that 
initial amount and the maturity amount. 

 
The effective interest rate of a financial liability is calculated on initial recognition of the        
the financial liability. In calculating interest expense, the effective interest rate is applied 
to the amortised cost of the liability. 

 
Interest expense presented in the statement of surplus or deficit and OCI includes financial 
liabilities measured at amortised cost. 

 

 
(m) Institutional capital 

 
Institutional capital includes retained earnings reserve and other statutory and legal 
reserves as set out in article XIV rule 66 of the Co-operative Societies Act. These are set 
aside in order to strengthen the capital base of the Co-operative and thereby protect the 
interest of the members. These amounts are not available for distribution. 

 
(n) Statutory reserves 

 
The statutory and legal reserves are maintained in accordance with the provisions of the Co-
operative Societies Act which require that a minimum of 20% of surplus before honoraria 
should be carried to a fund. A registered society may apply to the Registrar to allow the 
required percentage to be reduced. However, the reduction will not be granted below 10%. 
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3.      MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D) : 

 
(o) Impairment of non-financial assets 
 

The carrying amounts of the Co-operative’s non-financial assets are reviewed at each reporting 
date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, 
the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An impairment loss is recognised whenever the 
carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount.  A cash-
generating unit is the smallest identifiable asset group that generates cash inflows that are 
largely independent from other assets and groups. Impairment losses are recognised in surplus 
or deficit. 
 
(i) Calculation of recoverable amount 
 
 The recoverable amount of an asset or cash generating unit is the greater of its value in 

use and its fair value less cost to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash 
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. 
For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable 
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.  

 
 (ii)     Reversals of impairment 

 

 An impairment loss in respect of assets is reversed if there has been a change in the 
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. 

  
 An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the assets carrying amount does 

not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation 
or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised. 

 
(p)   Related party: 

 
A related party is a person or entity that is related to the entity that is preparing its financial 
statements (referred to in IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures as the “reporting entity, in this case 
the Co-operative”). 

 
a. A person or close member of that person’s family is related to the Co-operative if that 

person: 
 

(i) has control or joint control over the Co-operative; 
(ii) has significant influence over the Co-operative; or  
(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the Co-operative or of a parent  
        of the Co-operative. 
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3.       MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D): 
  

(p)    Related party (cont’d): 
 
b. An entity is related to the Co-operative if any of the following conditions applies: 

 
(i) The entity and the Co-operative are members of the same group (which means 

that each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others). 
 

(ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or 
joint venture of a member of a group of which the other entity is a member). 

 
(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party. 

 
(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate 

of the third entity. 
 

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of 
either the Co-operative or an entity related to the Co-operative.   

 
(vi) The entity is controlled, or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a). 

 
(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a 

member of the key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the 
entity). 

 
(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key 

management personnel services to the Co-operative or to the parent of the Co-
operative. 

 
c. A related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services or obligations between 

related parties, regardless of whether a price is charged. 
 

d. Related parties include directors and senior executives, all of whom are referred to as 
key management personnel.  Also, entities closely connected to them are related 
parties.    

 
(q)    League fees and stabilization dues: 

 
JCCUL has fixed the rate of league fees at 0.20% of total assets capped at 15% of JCCUL’s 
total assets. Stabilization dues are fixed at a rate of 0.15% of total savings. 

 
4.  CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY: 
 

Judgements and estimates are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and 
other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under 
the circumstances. In the process of applying the Co-operative's accounting policies, management 
has made the following critical accounting estimates or judgements which it believes have a 
significant risk of causing a material misstatement in these financial statements. 
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4.  CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (CONT’D): 
 

(a) Critical accounting estimate and judgement applied  
 

(i) Classification of financial assets 
 

The assessment of the business model within which the assets are held and 
assessment of whether the contractual terms of the financial asset are Solely 
Payments of Principal and Interest (SPPI) on the principal amount outstanding 
requires management to make certain judgements about its business operations.  

 
(ii) Impairment of financial assets 

 
Establishing the criteria for determining whether credit risk on the financial asset 
has increased significantly since initial recognition, determining methodology for 
incorporating forward-looking information into measurement of expected credit loss 
(ECL) and selection and approval of models used to measure ECL requires significant 
judgement. 

 
(b)  Key assumptions and other sources of estimation uncertainty 

 
(i) Impairment losses on financial assets 

 
In determining amounts recorded for impairment of financial assets in the financial 
statements, management makes assumptions in determining the inputs to be used in 
the ECL measurement model, including incorporation of forward-looking 
information.  Management also estimates the likely amount of cash flows 
recoverable on the financial assets in determining loss given default.  The use of 
assumptions make uncertainty inherent in such estimates. 

 
(ii) Employee benefits asset 

  
The amounts recognised in the statement of financial position and surplus or deficit 
for pension are determined actuarially using several assumptions. The primary 
assumptions used in determining the amounts recognised include expected long-
term return on plan assets and the discount rate used to determine the present 
value of estimated future cash flows required to settle the pension obligations. 

 
The discount rate is determined based on the estimate of yield on long-term 
government securities that have maturity dates approximating the terms of the Co-
operative’s obligations; in the absence of such instruments in Jamaica, it has been 
necessary to estimate the rate by extrapolating from the longest tenor security on 
the market.  Any changes in these assumptions will impact the amounts recorded in 
the financial statements for these obligations. 

 
Judgement is also exercised in determining the proportionate share of the defined   
benefit obligation, plan assets and cost as well as the extent that the surplus or 
deficit in the plan may affect the future contributions for each individual employer 
in the plan.  
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4.  CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (CONT’D): 
 

(b)  Key assumptions and other sources of estimation uncertainty (cont’d) 
 

(iii)  Fair value of financial instruments  
 
In the absence of quoted market prices, the fair value of the Co-operative's                     
financial instruments are determined using a generally accepted alternative to 
quoted market prices. Considerable judgement is required in interpreting market 
data to arrive at estimates of fair values. Consequently, the estimates arrived at 
may be significantly different from the actual price of the instrument in an arm's 
length transaction. 

 
(iv)        Depreciable assets  

 
Estimates of the useful life and residual value of property, plant and equipment 
are required in order to apply an adequate rate of transferring the economic 
benefits embodied in these assets in the relevant periods. The Co-operative 
applies a variety of methods in an effort to arrive at these estimates from which 
actual results may vary. Actual variations in estimated useful lives and residual 
values are reflected in surplus or deficit through impairment or adjusted 
depreciation provisions.  

 
5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT: 
 
 The Co-operative’s activities are principally related to the use of financial instruments, which 

involve analysis, evaluation and management of some degree of risk or combination of risks.  The 
Co-operative manages risk through a framework of risk principles, organizational structures and 
risk management and monitoring processes that are closely aligned with the activities of the Co-
operative.  The Co-operative’s risk management policies are designed to identify and analyze the 
risks faced by the Co-operative, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks 
and adherence to limits by means of regularly generated reports. The Co-operative’s aim is 
therefore to achieve an appropriate balance between risks and return and minimize potential 
adverse effects on the Co-opertaive’s financial performance. 

  
 The Co-operative has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: 
 

• Credit risk 

• Liquidity risk 

• Market risk 

• Operational risk 
 

In common with all other businesses, the Co-operative’s activities expose it to a variety of risks 
that arise from its use of financial instruments. This note describes the Credit Union’s objectives, 
policies and processes for managing those risks to minimize potential adverse effects on the 
financial performance of the Co-operative’s and the methods used to measure them. 
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D): 
  
 (i) Principal financial instruments 

 
The principal financial instruments used by the Co-operative from which financial 
instrument risk arises, are as follows: 

 
-   Financial investments 
-   Loan to members after provision for impairment  
-   Liquid assets 
-   Resale agreements 
-   Other assets  
-   Cash and cash equivalents 
-   Payables 
-   Members’ voluntary shares 
-   Members’ deposits  
-   Lease liabilities  
-   External credits 

  
(ii) Financial instruments by category 

 
Financial assets 

         Assets at fair    
 Assets at fair value through 

                                                                                 value through              other 
                                                          Assets at          profit or loss       comprehensive    
                                                     amortised cost  (surplus or deficit)    income Total 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 
  31 December 2024 
  Cash and cash equivalents 34,107 -      -     34,107 

Liquid assets 3,059,652 2,513 -     3,062,165 
Resale agreements 1,525,974 -      -     1,525,974 
Other assets 142,964 -      -     142,964 
Loans to members after  
    provision for impairment 15,440,955 -      -        15,440,955 
Financial investments       46,346 58,323 419,343     524,012 
 
 20,249,998 60,836 419,343 20,730,177 

 
  31 December 2023 
  Cash and cash equivalents 42,822 -      -    42,822  

Liquid assets  2,510,465 2,389 -    2,512,854 
Resale agreements  1,404,436 -      -    1,404,436 
Other assets 219,900 -      -    219,900 
Loans to members after  
    provision for impairment  14,369,349 -      -       14,369,349 
Financial investments      122,732 53,987 423,440      600,159 
 
 18,669,704 56,376 423,440 19,149,520 
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D): 
  

(ii) Financial instruments by category (cont’d) 
   

Financial liabilities 
 Amortised 
                  cost 
 2024 2023 
 $’000 $’000 
 
Lease liabilities  19,271 32,516 
Members: deposits 7,411,522 7,014,603 
External credits  451,334 212,662 
Payables 268,867 215,506  
Members’ voluntary shares    9,157,283   8,370,569 
 
Total financial liabilities 17,308,277 15,845,856  

 
(iii)  Financial risk 

 
The Board of Directors is ultimately responsible for the establishment and oversight of 
the Co-operative’s risk management framework.  The Board has established committees 
for managing and monitoring risks. 

 
Three key committees for managing and monitoring risks are the Supervisory 
Committee, the Credit Committee and the Finance Committee.  

 
1.  Supervisory Committee 

 
The Supervisory Committee oversees the performance of personnel and systems 
within the Co-operative and ensures that internal procedures and controls are 
adhered to.  The Supervisory Committee is assisted in its oversight role by 
Internal Audit.  Internal Audit undertakes both regular and ad hoc reviews of 
management controls and procedures, the results of which are reported to the 
Supervisory Committee. 

 
2.  Credit Committee 
 

The Credit Committee oversees the approval of credit facilities and 
disbursements to members.  It is also primarily responsible for monitoring the 
quality of the loan portfolio. 

 
3.  Finance Committee 

 
The Finance Committee is responsible for managing the Co-operative’s assets and 
liabilities and the overall financial structure. It is also primarily responsible for 
managing the funding and liquidity risks of the Co-operative. 
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D): 
  

(iii)   Financial risk (cont’d) 
 
These committees, inclusive of management and Supervisory, Finance and Risk and 
Compliance Committees, report to the Board monthly. The information from the other 
committees reports through the General Manager to the Board of Directors.  
 
The Co-operative’s overall risk management programme seeks to minimize potential 
adverse effects on the Co-operative’s financial performance. There have been no 
significant changes to the Co-operative’s exposure to financial risks or the manner in 
which it manages and measures its risks.  

 
(a) Credit risk 

 
The Co-operative takes on exposure to credit risk, which is the risk that a 
counterparty will cause a financial loss by being unable to pay amounts in full 
when due. Credit exposures arise principally in lending and investment 
activities. 
 
For loans, credit decisions are primarily made by the Board of Directors, with 
some delegation of credit approval authority to the Credit Committee and 
certain members of executive management. The Co-operative’s credit policy 
forms the basis for all its lending operations. The policy aims at maintaining a 
high quality loan portfolio, as well as enhancing the Co-operative’s mission and 
strategy. The policy sets the basic criteria for acceptable risk and identifies risk 
areas that require special attention. 
 
Additionally, the Co-operative is exposed to credit risk in its treasury activities, 
arising from financial assets that the Co-operative uses for investing its liquidity 
and managing currency and interest rate risks, as well as other market risks. 
There is also credit risk in off-balance sheet items, such as loan commitments. 

 
Credit review process 
 
The Co-operative has established a credit quality review process involving 
regular analysis of the ability of borrowers and other counterparties to meet 
interest and capital repayment obligations. 

 
(i) Loans 
 

Management of risk: 
 

The Co-operative assesses the probability of default of individual 
borrowers using internal ratings. The Co-operative assesses each 
borrower on four critical factors.  These factors are the member’s 
credit history, ability to pay linked to the industry benchmarked debt 
service ratio of 75%, character profile and the member’s economic 
stability, based on employment and place of abode. 
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D): 
  

(iii)  Financial risk (cont’d) 
 

(a) Credit risk (cont’d) 
 

 Credit review process (cont’d) 
 

(i) Loans (cont’d) 
 

Management of risk (cont’d): 
 

Borrowers are segmented into two rating classes: performing and non-
performing. 

 
The credit quality review process allows the Co-operative to assess the 
potential loss as a result of the risk to which it is exposed and take 
corrective action. Exposure to credit risk is managed, in part, by 
obtaining collateral and personal guarantees.  

 
                     Credit quality 
 

The following table sets out information about the credit quality of loans: 
    

  2024   
 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total  
              $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

 
Performing 15,167,560 239,195 -       15,406,755  
Non-performing         -        .      -      . 299,899      299,899 
  
 15,167,560 239,195 299,899 15,706,654 
Allowance for impairment  
  losses (      48,018) (    4,133) (118,549) (    170,700) 
 
Carrying amount 15,119,542 235,062 181,350 15,535,954 

 
  2023   

 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total  
              $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

  
Performing 14,096,364 202,689 -       14,299,053 
Non-performing         -        .      -      . 376,968      376,968 
 
 14,096,364 202,689 376,968 14,676,021 
Allowance for impairment  
  losses (      48,305) (    4,481) (195,220) (     248,006) 
 
Carrying amount 14,048,059 198,208 181,748 14,428,015 
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D): 
  

(iii)  Financial risk (cont’d) 
 

(a) Credit risk (cont’d) 
 

 Credit review process (cont’d) 
 

  (ii) Investments and resale agreements 
 

Management of risk: 
 

The Co-operative limits its exposure to credit risk by investing mainly in 
liquid securities, with counterparties that have high credit quality. 
These investments and other liquid securities are held mainly in 
Government of Jamaica securities and with counterparties that 
management regards as sound. 

 
The Co-operative has documented policies which facilitate the 
management of credit risk on investment securities and resale 
agreements. The Co-operative’s exposure and credit ratings of its 
counterparties are continually monitored. 

 
Credit quality 

 
The Co-operative identifies changes in credit risk by tracking published 
external credit ratings. To determine whether published ratings remain up 
to date and to assess whether there has been a significant increase in 
credit risk at the reporting date that has not been reflected in published 
ratings, the Co-operative supplements this by reviewing changes in bond 
yields together with available press and regulatory information on issuers. 

 
Loss given default (LGD) parameters generally reflect an assumed recovery 
rate of percent except when the security is credit-impaired, in which case 
the estimate of loss is based on the instrument’s current market price and 
original effective interest rate. 

 
The following table sets out information about the credit quality of 
investment securities and resale agreements, based on Moody’s credit 
rating index. 
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D): 
  

(iii)  Financial risk (cont’d) 
 

(a) Credit risk (cont’d) 
 

 Credit review process (cont’d) 
 
(ii) Investments and resale agreements (cont’d) 

 
Management of risk:           

 2024 2023   
 $’000    $’000   
 Stage 1 Stage 1 

Financial investments at FVOCI    
Non-Investment grade, being total 
     gross carrying amount    419,343   423,440 
 
Loss allowance           933         903 
 
Financial investments at amortised cost   
Non-investment grade  47,699 124,019 
Loss allowance  (      1,353) (     1,287)  
 
Carrying amount      46,346   122,732  

   
Resale agreements at amortised cost     
Non-Investment grade 1,526,339 1,404,750 
Loss allowance  (         365) (         314) 
 
Carrying amount  1,525,974 1,404,436 

 
(iii) Liquid assets and bank balances 

 
Liquid assets and bank balances are held in financial institutions which 
management regards as strong and there is no significant concentration. 
The strength of these financial institutions is constantly reviewed by the 
Finance Committee. 

 
Impairment has been measured at 12-month expected loss basis and 
reflects the short maturities of the exposures.  The Co-operative 
considers that liquid assets and bank balances have low credit risk.  No 
impairment allowances were recognised for cash and bank balances. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 



 

Page 42 
 

JAMAICA TEACHERS’ ASSOCIATION CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED  
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

31 DECEMBER 2024 
 

   
5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D): 
  

(iii)  Financial risk (cont’d) 
 

(a) Credit risk (cont’d) 
 

 Credit review process (cont’d) 
 
(iii) Liquid assets and bank balances 

 
The following table sets out the credit quality of liquid assets: 

 
 2024 2023   
 $’000    $’000   
 Stage 1 Stage 1 

 
Total gross carrying amount   3,060,891 2,511,799 
Loss allowance   (       1,239) (       1,334) 
 
Carrying amount  3,059,652 2,510,465 

 
(iv) Credit limits 

 
The Co-operative manages concentrations of credit risk by placing limits 
on the amount of risk accepted in relation to a single borrower or 
groups of related borrowers, and to product segments. Borrowing limits 
are established by the use of the system described above. Limits on the 
level of credit risk by product categories, and for investment 
categories, are reviewed and approved bi-annually by the Board of 
Directors. 

 
(v) Collateral held and other credit enhancements 

 
The most widely used practice for mitigating credit risk is the taking of 
security in the form of physical assets, netting agreements and 
guarantees. The amount and type of collateral required depend on an 
assessment of the credit risk of the borrower and guidelines are 
implemented regarding the acceptability of different types of 
collateral.  The principal collateral types provided for loans and 
advances are charges over members’ balances, real property and motor 
vehicles. There were no significant changes in the quality of collateral 
held during the year. 

 
Estimates of fair values are based on value of collateral assessed at the 
time of borrowing and are generally not updated except when a loan (or 
other financial asset) is individually assessed as impaired. Collateral is 
not generally held against deposits and investment securities, except 
when the securities are held as part of resale agreements (note 11).  
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D): 
  

(iii)  Financial risk (cont’d) 
 

(a) Credit risk (cont’d) 
 

 Credit review process (cont’d) 
 

(v) Collateral held and other credit enhancements (cont’d) 
 
When a loan becomes credit impaired, the fair value of the collateral is 
updated and used in calculating the ECL, otherwise a proxy for the 
collateral value is generally used on a portfolio basis to compute the 
ECL throughout the year. 

 
Management monitors the market value of collateral, requests 
additional collateral in accordance with the underlying agreement, and 
monitors the market value of collateral obtained during its review of 
the adequacy of the provision for credit losses. 

  
 The table below shows the collateral and other security enhancements 
held against loans to borrowers. 

 
    Collateral held for loans  
 2024 2023 
 $’000 $’000 
  

Past due not impaired financial assets  
Properties 205,509 109,396 
Shares and deposits  69,024 42,811 
Liens on motor vehicles    17,805   18,952 
 
 292,338 171,159 
 
Impaired financial assets    
Properties  432,238 429,483 
Shares and deposits  66,671 52,525 
Liens on motor vehicles    18,335   14,520 
 
 517,244 496,528 
 
Total 809,582 667,687 

  
(vi)  Impairment 

 
Inputs, assumptions and techniques used for estimating impairment see 
accounting policy at note 3(e). 
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D): 
  

(iii)  Financial risk (cont’d) 
 

(a) Credit risk (cont’d) 
 

 Credit review process (cont’d) 
 

(vi)   Impairment (cont’d) 
 
     Significant increase in credit risk 
 

When determining whether the risk of default on a financial instrument 
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Co-operative 
considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and 
available without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative 
and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Co-operative’s 
historical experience and third party policies including forward-looking 
information. 
 

The objective of the assessment is to identify whether a significant 
increase in credit risk has occurred for an exposure by comparing: 

 
- the remaining lifetime probability of default (PD) as at the 

reporting date; with 
 
- the remaining lifetime PD for this point in time that was 

estimated at the time of initial recognition of the exposure 
(adjusted where relevant for changes in prepayment 
expectations). 

 
The Co-operative uses three criteria for determining whether there has 
been a significant increase in credit risk:   

 
- quantitative test based on movement in PD; 
- qualitative indicators; and 
- the 30 days past due backstop indicator. 

 
Credit risk grades  
 
The Co-operative allocates each exposure to a credit risk grade based 
on a variety of data that is determined to be predictive of the risk of 
default and applying experienced credit judgment. Credit risk grades 
are defined using qualitative and quantitative factors that are 
indicative of the risk of default. These factors may vary depending on 
the nature of the exposure and the type of borrower. 
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D): 
  

(iii)  Financial risk (cont’d) 
 

(a) Credit risk (cont’d) 
 

 Credit review process (cont’d) 
 

(vi)   Impairment (cont’d) 
 

 Credit risk grades (cont’d) 
 
The Co-operative allocates each exposure to a credit risk grade based 
on a variety of data that is determined to be predictive of the risk of 
default and applying experienced credit judgment. Credit risk grades 
are defined using qualitative and quantitative factors that are 
indicative of the risk of default. These factors may vary depending on 
the nature of the exposure and the type of borrower. 

 
Each exposure is allocated to a credit risk grade on initial recognition 
based on available information about the borrower. Exposures are 
subject to ongoing monitoring, which may result in an exposure being 
moved to a different credit risk grade. The monitoring typically involves 
use of the following data: 

 
- information obtained during periodic review of customer files; 

 
- data from credit reference agencies; 

 
- actual and expected significant changes in the political, 

regulatory and technological environment of the borrower; 
 

- payment record – this includes overdue status as well as a range 
of variables about payment ratios; and 
 

- existing and forecast changes in business, financial and 
economic conditions. 

 
The Co-operative assesses whether credit risk has increased significantly 
since initial recognition at each reporting date. Determining whether an 
increase in credit risk is significant depends on the characteristics of the 
financial instrument and the borrower.  

 
Credit risk is deemed to increase significantly where the credit rating of 
a security decreased four or more levels on the international credit 
rating scale since the rating at origination date or the issuer of the 
instrument is experiencing or is very likely to experience one or more 
adversities and where there are adverse changes in one or more of the 
credit risk drivers that could increase the likelihood of default since the 
origination of loans. 
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D): 
  

(iii)  Financial risk (cont’d) 
 

(a) Credit risk (cont’d) 
 

 Credit review process (cont’d) 
 

(vi)   Impairment (cont’d) 
 

 Credit risk grades (cont’d) 
 
 Inputs, assumptions and techniques used for estimating impairment 
(cont’d) 
 
Determining whether credit risk has been increased significantly 
(cont’d) 
  
As a backstop, the Co-operative considers that a significant increase in 
credit risk occurs no later than when an asset is more than 30 days past 
due.  Days past due are determined by counting the number of days 
since the earliest elapsed due date in respect of which full payment has 
not been received. Due dates are determined without considering any 
grace period that might be available to the borrower.  

 
If there is evidence that there is no longer a significant increase in 
credit risk relative to initial recognition, then the loss allowance on an 
instrument return to being measured as 12-month ECL. Some qualitative 
indicators of an increase in credit risk, such as delinquency or 
forbearance, may be indicative of an increased risk of default that 
persists after the indicator itself has ceased to exist. In these cases, the 
Co-operative determines a probation period during which the financial 
asset is required to demonstrate good behaviour to provide evidence 
that its credit risk has declined sufficiently. When contractual terms of 
a loan have been modified, evidence that the criteria for recognising 
lifetime ECL are no longer met includes a history of up-to-date payment 
performance against the modified contractual terms.   

 
The Co-operative monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to 
identify significant increases in credit risk by regular reviews to confirm 
that: 

 
- the criteria are capable of identifying significant increases in 

credit risk before an exposure is in default; 

 
- the criteria do not align with the point in time when an asset 

becomes 30 days past due; 
 

- the average time between the identification of a significant 
increase in credit risk and default appears reasonable; 
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(iii)  Financial risk (cont’d) 
 

(a) Credit risk (cont’d) 
 

 Credit review process (cont’d) 
 

(vi)   Impairment (cont’d) 
 

Credit risk grades (cont’d) 
 
Inputs, assumptions and techniques used for estimating impairment 
(cont’d) 
 
Determining whether credit risk has been increased significantly(cont’d) 
 
The Co-operative monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to 
identify significant increases in credit risk by regular reviews to confirm 
that (continued): 

 
- exposures are not generally transferred directly from 12-month 

ECL measurement to credit-impaired; and 
 

- there is no unwarranted volatility in loss allowance from transfers 
between 12-month PD (Stage 1) and lifetime PD (Stage 2). 

 
Definition of default 
 
The Co-operative considers a financial asset to be in default when: 

 
- the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Co-

operative in full, without recourse by the Co-operative to actions 
such as realising security (if any is held);  
 

- the borrower is more than 90 days past due on any material 
credit obligation to the Co-operative; or 
 

- it is becoming probable that the borrower will restructure the 
asset as a result of bankruptcy due to the borrower’s inability to 
pay its credit obligations. 

 
In assessing whether a borrower is in default, the Co-operative 
considers indicators that are: 
 
- qualitative: e.g. breaches of covenant; 
 
- quantitative: e.g. overdue status and non-payment on another 

obligation of the same issuer to the Co-operative; and 
 

- based on data developed internally and obtained from external 
sources. 



 

 
Page 48 

 
 

JAMAICA TEACHERS’ ASSOCIATION CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED  
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

31 DECEMBER 2024 
 

   
5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D): 
  

(iii)  Financial risk (cont’d) 
 

(a) Credit risk (cont’d) 
 

 Credit review process (cont’d) 
 

(vi)  Impairment (cont’d) 
 

Credit risk grades (cont’d) 
 
Definition of default (cont’d) 
 
Inputs, assumptions and techniques used for estimating impairment 
(cont’d) 
 
Determining whether credit risk has been increased significantly 
(cont’d) 
 
Inputs into the assessment of whether a financial instrument is in 
default and their significance may vary over time to reflect changes in 
circumstances.   
 
The definition of default largely aligns with that applied by the Co-
operative for regulatory capital purposes. 

 
Incorporation of forward-looking information 
 
The Co-operative incorporates forward-looking information into both 
the assessment of whether the credit risk of an instrument has 
increased significantly since its initial recognition and the measurement 
of ECL. 
 
The Co-operative uses a forward looking scorecard model to estimate 
the potential impact of future economic conditions. It formulates three 
economic scenarios: a base case, which is the median scenario assigned 
a 50% probability of occurring, and two less likely scenarios, one upside 
and one downside, assigned a 20% and 30% probability of occurring 
respectively. Each scenario considers the expected impact of inflation, 
interest rates, unemployment rates and gross domestic product (GDP). 
The base case is aligned with information used by the Co-operative for 
other purposes such as strategic planning and budgeting. External 
information considered includes economic data and forecasts published 
by governmental bodies and monetary authorities in Jamaica, 
supranational organisations and selected private-sector and academic 
forecasters. 
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D): 
  

(iii)  Financial risk (cont’d) 
 

(a) Credit risk (cont’d) 
 

 Credit review process (cont’d) 
 

(vi)  Impairment (cont’d) 
 

Credit risk grades (cont’d) 
 
Incorporation of forward-looking information (cont’d) 
 
The economic scenarios used as at 31 December 2024 assumed no 
significant changes in key indicators for Jamaica within the next year. 
 
Based on the economic scenario, proxies of 0.6, 1.1 and 1.6 times ECL 
were determined to be appropriate for positive, stable and negative 
outlooks respectively. 

  
Measurement of ECLs 
 
The key inputs into the measurement of ECL are the term structure of 
the following variables: 

 
- probability of default (PD); 
 
- loss given default (LGD); and 
 
- exposure at default (EAD) 

 
ECL for exposures in Stage 1 is calculated by multiplying the 12-month 
PD by LGD and EAD. Lifetime ECL is calculated by multiplying the 
lifetime PD by LGD and EAD.  
 
LGD is the magnitude of the likely loss if there is a default. The Co-
operative estimates LGD parameters based on the history of recovery 
rates of claims against defaulted counterparties. The LGD models 
consider the structure, collateral, seniority of the claim, counterparty 
industry and recovery costs of any collateral that is integral to the 
financial asset. For loans secured by properties, loan-to-value (LTV) 
ratios are a key parameter in determining LGD. LGD estimates are 
recalibrated for different economic scenarios and, for real estate 
lending, to reflect possible changes in property prices. They are 
calculated on a discounted cash flow basis using the effective interest 
rate as the discounting factor. 



 

 
 

Page 50 
 

JAMAICA TEACHERS’ ASSOCIATION CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED  
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

31 DECEMBER 2024 
 

   
5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D): 
  

(iii)  Financial risk (cont’d) 
 

(a) Credit risk (cont’d) 
 

 Credit review process (cont’d) 
 
(vi)  Impairment (cont’d) 

 
Measurement of ECLs   
 
EAD represents the expected exposure in the event of a default. The 
Co-operative derives the EAD from the current exposure to the 
counterparty and potential changes to the current amount allowed 
under the contract and arising from amortisation. The EAD of a financial 
asset is its gross carrying amount at the time of default.  
 
As described above, and subject to using a maximum of a 12-month PD 
for Stage 1 financial assets, the Co-operative measures ECL considering 
the risk of default over the maximum contractual period (including any 
borrower’s extension options) over which it is exposed to credit risk, 
even if, for credit risk management purposes, the Co-operative 
considers a longer period. The maximum contractual period extends to 
the date at which the Co-operative has the right to require repayment 
of an advance or terminate a loan commitment or guarantee.   
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D): 
  

(iii)  Financial risk (cont’d) 
 

(a) Credit risk (cont’d) 
 

(vi) Impairment (cont’d): 
 

Loss allowance  
 

 The loss allowance recognised is analysed as follow: 
 

   2024   
 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Loans      
Balances at 1 January 48,307 4,480 195,219 248,006 
New financial assets originated or  
Purchased recognised during the year 18,448 660 3,261 22,369 
Transfer from Stage 1 (  2,968) 2,968 64,853 64,853 
Transfer from Stage 2 -     -     21,338 21,338 
Transfer from Stage 3 -     186 -      186 
Financial assets derecognised during  
the period (15,768) (4,162) (166,122) (186,052) 

 
Balances at 31 December 48,019 4,132 118,549 170,700 

 
 

                                                                                            2023   
 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

  Loans      
Balances at 1 January  52,565 4,500 167,939 225,004 
New financial assets originated or  
Purchased recognised during the year 21,968 1,078 4,634 27,680 
Transfer from Stage 1  (  2,931) 2,931 112,515 112,515 
Transfer from Stage 2 -      -     44,500 44,500 
Transfer from Stage 3  -      71 -      71 
Financial assets derecognised during  
the period (23,295) (4,100) (134,369) (161,764) 

 
Balances at 31 December  48,307 4,480 195,219 248,006 
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D): 
  

(iii)  Financial risk (cont’d) 
 

(a) Credit risk (cont’d) 
 

(vi) Impairment (cont’d) 
 

                             Loss allowance (cont’d)  
 
 2024 2023   
 $’000    $’000   
 Stage 1 Stage 1 

(i) Financial investments:   
 

(a) Amortised investments: 
   

Balance at 1 January  1,287 328 
Recognised during the year      66    959 

 
Balance at 31 December  1,353 1,287 

 
(b) Fair value through other comprehensive income investments: 

 
Balance at 1 January  903 845 
Recognised during the year      30     58 

 
Balance at 31 December    933   903 

 
(ii) Resale agreements: 

  
Balance at 1 January  314 545 
Recognised during the year      51 (  231) 

 
Balance at 31 December    365   314 
  

(iii) Liquid assets: 
 

Balance at 1 January  1,334 299 
Recognised during the year  (    95) 1,035 

 
Balance at 31 December  1,239 1,334 
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D): 
  

(iii)  Financial risk (cont’d) 
 

(a) Credit risk (cont’d) 
 

(vii) Exposure to credit risk 
 

Maximum credit exposure to credit risk before collateral held or other 
credit enhancements. 

 
The maximum credit exposure, the total amount of loss that the Co-
operative would suffer if every counterparty to the Co-operative’s financial 
assets were to default at once, is represented by the carrying amount of the 
financial assets shown on the statement of financial position as at the 
reporting date.  

 
Concentration of risk 
 

The following tables summarise the Cooperative’s credit exposure to 
financial assets at their carrying amounts and concentration of credit risk. 

 
Loans: 
 2024 2023   
 $’000    $’000   
  
Construction and real estate  2,728,229 2,499,004 
Personal  4,760,331 5,042,805 
Motor vehicle  4,280,019 3,145,851 
General    3,938,075   3,988,361 
 
 15,706,654 14,676,021 
Less: Allowance for impairment losses  (    170,700) (     248,006) 
 
 15,535,954 14,428,015 
 
Liquid assets: 
 2024 2023   
 $’000    $’000   
 
Corporate 39,713 36,719 
Financial institution  3,021,178 2,475,080 
 
 3,060,891 2,511,799 
Less: Allowance for impairment losses  (      1,239) (       1,334) 
 
 3,059,652 2,510,465 
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D): 
  

(iii)  Financial risk (cont’d) 
 

(a) Credit risk (cont’d) 
 

(vii) Exposure to credit risk (cont’d) 
 

Concentration of risk (cont’d) 
 

Debt securities: 
 
 

 2024 2023   
 $’000    $’000   

 
Government of Jamaica 477,666 493,507 
Corporate  10,001 9,754 
Financial institutions 1,564,037 1,439,617 

 
 2,051,704 1,942,878 

Less: Allowance for impairment losses  (       1,718) (       1,601) 
 
 2,049,986 1,941,277 

 
(b)  Liquidity risk 

 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Co-operative is unable to meet its payment 
obligations associated with its financial liabilities when they fall due and to replace 
funds when they are withdrawn. The consequences may be the failure to meet 
obligations to repay depositors and fulfill commitments to lend. 
 
The Co-operative’s approach to managing liquidity risk is to ensure, as far as 
possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, 
under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or 
risking damages to the Co-operative’s reputation. 
 
The Co-operative is subject to liquidity limit imposed by JCCUL and compliance is 
regularly monitored.  This limit requires that the Co-operative maintain liquid 
assets amounting to at least 10% of withdrawable savings and deposits. The liquid 
asset ratio as at 31 December 2024 was approximately  27.81% (2023: 25.45%) 
which is in compliance with the standard. 
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D): 
  

(iii)  Financial risk (cont’d) 
 

(b)  Liquidity risk (cont’d) 
 
Liquidity risk management process 

 
The liquidity risk management process, as carried out within the Co-operative, 
includes: 

 
(i) Monitoring future cash flows and liquidity on a daily basis. This 

incorporates an assessment of expected cash flows and the availability of 
high grade collateral which could be used to secure funding, if required; 

 
(ii) Maintaining a portfolio of highly marketable and diverse assets that can 

easily be liquidated as protection against any unforeseen interruption to 
cash flow; 

 
(iii) Optimising cash returns on investments; and  

 
(iv) Managing the concentration and profile of debt maturities 

 
Monitoring and reporting take the form of an analysis of the cash balances and 
expected investment maturity profiles for the next day, week and month, as 
these are key periods for liquidity management. The starting point for those 
projections is an analysis of the contractual maturity of the financial liabilities 
and the expected collection date of the financial assets. 

 
The maturities of assets and liabilities and the ability to replace, at an 
acceptable cost, interest-bearing liabilities as they mature, are important 
factors in assessing the liquidity of the Co-operative and its exposure to changes 
in interest rates and exchange rates.  

 
There was no change in how the Co-operative measures and manages liquidity 
risk during the year.  
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D): 
  

(iii)  Financial risk (cont’d) 
 

(b)  Liquidity risk (cont’d) 
 
Liquidity risk management process (cont’d) 

 
The tables below present the undiscounted cash flows payable (both interest and 
principal cash flows) of the Co-operative’s financial liabilities based on contractual 
repayment obligations. 

 
      Total 
 Within 3 3 to 12 2 to 5 Over 5  Total carrying 
 months months years years cashflows amount 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000  
 

31 December 2024 
Lease liabilities 1,247 2,642 23,592 3,650 31,131 19,271 

Members’ deposits 5,395,015 490,331 1,691,711 146,159 7,723,216 7,411,522  
Members’ voluntary shares 9,157,283 -      -        -       9,157,283 9,157,283 
External credits 18,199 54,597 291,186 350,478 714,460 451,334 
Other liabilities      268,867      -     .       -       .      -     .     268,867      268,867 
 
Total financial liabilities 14,840,611 547,570 2,006,489 500,287 17,894,957 17,308,277 

 
31 December 2023 
Lease liabilities 6,724 19,621 18,555 450 45,350 32,516 

Members’ deposits   5,059,614 498,080 1,595,318 157,507 7,310,519 7,014,603 
Members’ voluntary shares 8,370,569 -      -      -      8,370,569 8,370,569 
External credits  7,078 21,235 113,253 245,382 386,948 212,662 
Other liabilities      215,506      -     .         -     .      -     .     215,506      215,506 
 
Total financial liabilities            13,659,491 538,936 1,727,126 403,339 16,328,892 15,845,856 
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D): 
  

(iii)  Financial risk (cont’d) 
 

  (c) Market risk 
 

The Co-operative takes on exposure to market risk, which is the risk that the fair 
value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in market prices.  Market risks mainly arise from changes in foreign 
currency exchange rates and interest rates.  Market risk is monitored by the 
Finance Committee which carries out extensive research and monitors the price 
movement of financial assets on the local and international markets. Market risk 
exposures are measured using sensitivity analysis. 
 
(i) Currency risk 

 
Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial 
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates.  The 
main currency giving rise to this risk is the US$. 

 
The Co-operative’s exposure to foreign currency risk at the reporting date 
was as follows: 

 
 2024 2023   
 $’000    $’000   

 
Liquid assets – earning 10 24 
Resale agreements 246 196 
Financial Investments  568 568 

 
 824 788 
 

The exchange rate of the US$ to the J$ at the reporting date was 
US$154.79 to J$1.00 (2023: J$153.59). 

 
           Foreign currency sensitivity 
 

The effect of a 4% (2023: 4%) strengthening of the United States dollar 
against the Jamaica dollar at the reporting date would, all other variables 
held constant, have resulted in an increase in surplus for the year of 
J$5,102,000 (2023: J$4,841,000). A 1% (2023: 1%) weakening in the 
exchange rate would, on the same basis, have resulted in a decrease in 
surplus of J$1,275,500 (2023: J$1,211,000). 
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D): 
  

(iii)  Financial risk (cont’d) 
 

  (c) Market risk (cont’d) 
 

(ii) Interest rate risk 
 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value or future cash flows of a 
financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest 
rates, and arises mainly from investments, loans and deposits. 
 
Floating rate instruments expose the Co-operative to cash flow interest 
risk, whereas fixed interest rate instruments expose the Co-operative to 
fair value interest risk. 

 
The Co-operative’s interest rate risk policy requires it to manage interest 
rate risk by maintaining an appropriate mix of fixed and variable rate 
instruments as determined by the Finance Committee. The policy also 
requires it to manage the maturities of interest bearing financial assets 
and interest bearing financial liabilities. The Board sets limits on the level 
of mismatch of interest rate re-pricing that may be undertaken, which is 
monitored daily by the Finance department. Management estimates that 
expected cashflows on these instruments will occur much later as 
demonstrated by retention history. These may vary significantly from 
actual cash flows which are generally expected to maintain a stable or 
increasing balance. 



 

 
 

Page 59 
 
 

JAMAICA TEACHERS’ ASSOCIATION CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED  
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

31 DECEMBER 2024 
 

   
5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D): 
  

(iii)  Financial risk (cont’d) 
 

(c) Market risk (cont’d) 
 

(ii) Interest rate risk (cont’d) 
 

The following tables summarise the exposure to interest rate risk. They 
include the financial instruments at carrying amounts, categorised by the 
earlier of contractual re-pricing or maturity dates. 

 
   2024  
       Non- 
   Within 3  3 to 12 2 to 5 Over 5 interest 
     months months years years bearing Total 
     $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 
Assets 
Cash and bank balances -        -       -        -         34,107 34,107 
Liquid assets 633,800 2,428,365 -        -         -       3,062,165 
Resale agreements 713,085 812,889 -        -         -       1,525,974 
Financial investments 29,680 37,698 48,367 408,267 -       524,012 
Loans 26,792 136,103 7,028,472 8,249,588 -       15,440,955 
Other assets           -      .          -      .        -       .        -          142,964     142,964 
 
Total assets   1,403,357   3,415,055 7,076,839 8,657,855    177,071 20,730,177 
 
Liabilities 
Lease liabilities 1,247 1,371 14,341 2,312 -       19,271 
Members’ deposits 5,206,162 464,772 1,601,719 138,869 -       7,411,522 
Members’ voluntary shares 9,157,283 -       -        -      -       9,157,283 
External credits 7,169 22,759 154,324 267,082 -       451,334 
Other liabilities           -      .          -      .        -       .        -          268,867     268,867 
 
Total liabilities 14,371,861      488,902 1,770,384    408,263    268,867 17,308,277 
 
Total interest  
sensitivity gap (12,968,504) 2,926,153 5,306,455 8,249,592 (    91,796)   3,421,900 
 
Cumulative interest  
rate sensitivity gap (12,968,504)(10,042,351)(4,735,896) 3,513,696 3,421,900 
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D): 
  

(iii)  Financial risk (cont’d) 
 

  (c) Market risk (cont’d) 
 

(ii) Interest rate risk (cont’d) 
 
   2023  
       Non- 
   Within 3  3 to 12 2 to 5 Over 5 interest 
     months months years years bearing Total 
     $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 
Assets 
Cash and bank balances -       -       -       -      42,822 42,822 
Liquid assets 395,204  2,117,650    -       -      -      2,512,854 
Resale agreements 1,295,500 108,936 -       -      -      1,404,436 
Financial investments -       33,580 153,110 413,469 -      600,159 
Loans 6,553 127,611 5,810,697 8,424,488 -      14,369,349 
Other assets           -      .        -      .        -      .        -      .   219,900      219,900  
 
Total assets    1,697,257 2,387,777    5,963,807   8,837,957    262,722 19,149,520 
 
Liabilities 
Lease liabilities 5,662 14,208 12,376 270 -      32,516 
Members’ deposits 4,882,401 472,138 1,510,394 149,670 -      7,014,603 
Members’ voluntary shares 8,370,569 -       -       -       -      8,370,569 
External credits  1,893  5,962 40,292 164,515 -      212,662 
Other liabilities          -      .         -      .        -      .        -      .   215,506      215,506 
 
Total liabilities 13,260,525    492,308 1,563,062    314,455   215,506 15,845,856 
 
Total interest  
sensitivity gap  (11,563,268) 1,895,469 4,400,745 8,523,502     47,216   3,303,664 
 
Cumulative interest  
rate sensitivity gap (11,563,268) (9,667,799) (5,267,054) 3,256,448 3,303,664 

 
. 
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D): 
  

(iii)  Financial risk (cont’d) 
 

(c) Market risk (cont’d) 
 

(ii) Interest rate risk (cont’d) 
 

Interest rate sensitivity 
 
The following table indicates the sensitivity to a reasonable possible change 
in interest rates, with all other variables being held constant. 
 
The sensitivity of the surplus is the effect of the assumed changes in 
interest rates on net income based on the floating rate financial assets and 
financial liabilities. The sensitivity of equity is calculated by revaluing fixed 
rate financial assets classified and measured at FVOCI for the effect of the 
assumed changes in interest rates. The correlation of variables will have a 
significant effect in determining the ultimate impact on market risk, but to 
demonstrate the impact due to changes in variable, they have to be on an 
individual basis. It should be noted that movements in these variables are 
non-linear. 

 
 Effect on Effect on Effect on Effect on 
 Surplus Equity  Surplus Equity   
  2024 2024 2023 2023 
  $’000    $’000    $’000    $’000    
 

Change in basis points:         
 2024: -100 (2023: -25) (45,873) 14,578 (9,947) 5,390 

 2024: +25 (2023: +25) 11,468 (23,525) 9,947  (10,512) 
 
  

  2024  
 Within 3 3 to 12 2 to 5 Over 5 Weighted 
  months  months years  years  average 
 % % % % % 

 
Loans 16.31 11.40 12.77 10.79 11.63 
Liquid assets 8.23 3.83 -  -  6.03 
Resale agreements 7.80 7.16 -  -  7.48 
Financial investments 7.41 8.1 9.84 8.06 8.35 
Members’ deposits 3.63 5.50 5.62 5.25 4.21 
External credits    -   .    -   .    -   .  9.75  9.75 
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(iii)  Financial risk (cont’d) 
 

(c) Market risk (cont’d) 
 

(ii) Interest rate risk (cont’d) 
 

Interest rate sensitivity 
 

  2023  
 Within 3 3 to 12 2 to 5 Over 5 Weighted 
  months  months years  years  average 
 % % % % % 

 
Loans    16.82 11.49 12.33 11.15 12.95 
Liquid assets 8.26 4.40 -  - 6.33 
Resale agreements 9.33 9.10 -  - 9.22 
Financial investments - 8.10 6.45 9.66 8.07 
Members’ deposits  3.63 5.49 5.62 5.24 4.99 
External credits   7.50    -   .    -   .  9.75   8.63 
 

(d) Operational risk 
 

Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of 
causes associated with the Co-operative’s processes, personnel, technology and 
infrastructure, and from external factors other than credit, market and liquidity 
risks such as those arising from legal and regulatory requirements and generally 
accepted standards of corporate behaviour. Operational risks arise from all of the 
Co-operative’s operations. 
 
The Co-operative’s objective is to manage operational risks so as to balance the 
avoidance of financial losses and damage to the Co-operative’s reputation with 
overall cost effectiveness and to avoid control procedures that restrict initiative and 
creativity.  
 
The primary responsibility for the development and implementation of controls to 
address operational risk is assigned to senior management within each department. 
This responsibility is supported by the development of overall standards for the 
management of operational risk in the following areas: 

 

• Requirement for appropriate segregation of duties, including the 
independent authorisation of transactions; 

• Requirements for the reconciliation and monitoring of transactions; 

• Compliance with regulatory and other legal requirements; 

• Documentation of controls and procedures; 

• Requirement for the periodic assessment of operational risks faced, and 
the adequacy of controls and procedures to address the risks identified; 

• Requirements for the reporting of operational losses and proposed 
remedial action; 

• Development of a contingency plan; 

• Risk mitigation, including insurance where this is effective. 
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D): 
  

(iii)  Financial risk (cont’d) 
 

(d) Operational risk (cont’d) 
 

Compliance with the Co-operative’s standards is supported by a programme of 
periodic reviews undertaken by Internal Audit. The results of internal audit 
reviews are discussed with the department heads, with summaries submitted to 
senior management. 

 
(e) Capital management 

 
The Co-operative’s objectives when managing institutional capital, which is a 
broader concept than the “equity” on the face of the statement of financial 
position are: 

 
(i) To comply with the capital requirements set by the JCCUL for the 

financial sector in which the Co-operative operates; 
 

(ii) To safeguard the Co-operative’s ability to continue as a going concern so 
that it can continue to provide returns and benefits for members; 
 

(iii) To maintain an 8% ratio of institutional capital to total assets; and 
 

(iv) To maintain a strong capital base to support the development of its 
business through the allocation of at least 20% of surplus to institutional 
capital. 

 
Capital adequacy and the use of regulatory capital are monitored by 
management, based on the guidelines in its Capital Asset Management Policy. The 
JCCUL currently requires member co-operatives to maintain a minimum level of 
institutional capital at 8% of total assets. At the reporting date, this ratio was 15% 
(2023: 14%) which is in compliance with the requirements. 

 
The proposed Bank of Jamaica regulations require JCCUL to ensure that member 
Co-operatives: 

 
(i) Hold a minimum level of the regulatory capital of 6% of total assets; and 

(ii) Maintain a ratio of total regulatory capital to risk-weighted assets at or 
above 10%. 
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D): 
  

(iii)  Financial risk (cont’d) 
 

(e) Capital management (cont’d) 
 

The table below summarises the composition of regulatory capital and the ratios 
of the Co-operative as at the reporting date.  During the year, the Co-operative 
complied with all externally imposed capital requirements to which it is subject. 

 
  2024   2023  

 Actual Required Actual Required 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 

Total regulatory capital 3,214,731 1,722,013 2,983,050 1,590,197 

Total capital ratio          15%            8%          15%            8% 
  
 
6. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS: 

 
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 
orderly transaction at the measurement date and is best evidenced by a quoted market price, if 
one exists. Many of the Co-operative’s financial instruments lack an available trading market. 
Therefore, these instruments have been valued using other valuation techniques and the values 
may not necessarily be indicative of the amounts realizable in an immediate settlement of the 
instruments. In addition, the calculation of estimated fair value is based on market conditions 
at a specific point in time and may not be reflective of future fair values. 

 
The fair values of liquid assets, resale agreements, cash and cash equivalents, other assets and 
other liabilities are assumed to approximate their carrying values due to their short-term 
nature. 

 
The fair value of financial investments is based on quoted market bid prices, when available. 
Where quoted market bid prices are not available, other valuation techniques are used. 

 
External credits, members’ voluntary shares, members’ deposits and loans to members are 
carried at amortised cost, which is deemed to approximate their fair values, as these balances 
attract rates and terms comparable to market rates and terms for similar instruments. 

 
The fair value of shares held in Jamaica Co-operative Credit Union League and other related 
entities are determined using the net asset valuation method. There is no available market for 
these instruments. The Co-operative has no intention to dispose of these investments.  
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6. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D): 
 

The fair value of loans to members could not be readily available determined as loans are 
generally unique to the Co-operatives although they are at market comparable interest rates. 
Additionally, the carrying amount of the loan reflects the expected lifetime credit losses, value 
and quality of collateral and interest rates on the loan. 

 
Financial instruments that are measured at fair value at the reporting date are grouped into 
Levels 1, 2 and 3, based on the degree to which the fair value is observable as follows: 

 
(i) Level 1: Fair values are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical 

instruments;  
 

(i) Level 2: Fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques based on 
inputs other than quoted market prices included within level 1, that are observable for 
the instrument, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). 

 
(iii)  Level 3: Fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques using 

significant inputs for the instrument that are not based on observable market data 
(unobservable inputs). 

   
 Accounting classification and fair values  
 

 The following table shows the carrying amount of financial assets measured at fair value, their 
classification and their levels in the fair value hierarchy. There were no transfers between 
levels during the year. It does not include fair value information for financial assets and 
liabilities not measured at fair value if the carrying amount is a reasonable approximately of 
fair value. 

 
           Carrying amount                             Fair value                . 
 

  FVOCI FVTPL Total Level 2 Level 3   Total 
  $’000 J$’000 $’000 J$’000 J$’000 J$’000 
                                                 2024                                           

 
Financial assets measured  
  at fair value:   

                   Unit Trust Funds -     48,367 48,367 48,367 -     48,367 
                   Unquoted equity 9,331 -      9,331 -      9,331 9,331 
                   Jamaica Co-operative  
                   Credit Union League Limited 
                   JCCUL -      9,955 9,955 -      9,955 9,955 
                   Global bonds 101,558 -      101,558 101,558 -      101,558 
                   Benchmark investment note 308,454 -      308,454 308,454 -      308,454 
                   Money Market Funds      -     .   2,513     2,513     2,513     -     .     2,513 
 
 419,343 60,835 480,178 460,892 19,286 480,178 
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6. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D): 
 
 Accounting classification and fair values  
        
           Carrying amount                             Fair value                . 
 

  FVOCI FVTPL Total Level 2 Level 3   Total 
  $’000 J$’000 $’000 J$’000 J$’000 J$’000 
                                                 2023                                           .     

 
Financial assets measured  
  at fair value:   

                   Unit trust funds -      44,032 44,032 44,032 -     44,032       
                   Unquoted equity  9,331 -    9,331 -      9,331 9,331      
                   Jamaica Co-operative  
                   Credit Union League Limited       
                   JCCUL -     9,955 9,955 -      9,955 9,955        
                   Global bonds 103,624 -    103,624 103,624 -     103,624  
                   Benchmark investment note 310,485 -    310,485 310,485 -     310,485      
                   Money Market Funds          -         2,389       2,389       2,389      -         2,389    
 
 423,440 56,376 479,816 460,530 19,286 479,816 
     
 
            There were no transfers between levels during the year.  
 
 Valuation techniques  

 
The valuation techniques used in measuring fair value in the level 2 and level 3 hierarchy are as 
detailed below. Significant unobservable inputs used in the Net Asset Valuation (NAV) method 
for unquoted equities include assets and liabilities that do not have a quoted market price. 
Unquoted equities represent holdings in entities in the financial sector providing services 
mainly to credit unions. As these are financial entities, the NAV is considered an appropriate 
basis to fair value these equities. 
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6. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D): 
 
 Valuation techniques 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7. NON-INTEREST INCOME: 
                                                                                        2024           2023 
                                                                               $’000          $’000   

 
        Fees 24,628 25,216 
        Bad debt recovery 32,407 39,122 
        Exchange gains on foreign currency deposits  697 2,662 
        Dividend income 643 398 
        Operating lease income (note 14) 999 1,014 
        Realised losses on investments  -      (17,589) 
        Unrelaised gains on unit trust investments  4,334 1,242 
        Miscellaneous income 11,803   6,299 
 
 75,511 58,364 

 

Financial assets Methods 

Government of Jamaica J$ 
securities  

• Obtain bid yield from yield curve provided by a 

recognised pricing source (which uses market-

supplied indicative bids); 

 

• Using this yield, determine price using accepted 

formula; 

 

• Apply price to estimate fair value. 

 

Government of Jamaica US$ 
Global bonds  

• Prices of bonds at reporting date as quoted by 
broker/dealer 

Units in unit trusts  • Obtain prices quoted by unit trust managers 
 

• Apply price to estimate fair value 
 

Unquoted equities • Net asset valuation method 
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8. EXPENSES BY NATURE: 
                                                                                        2024            2023  
                                                                                    $’000           $’000   

 
        Administrative  

  ABM 9,794 8,089 
  Advertising and publicity  64,102 56,467 
  Amortisation  4,564 7,335 
  Annual general meeting 9,061 9,394 
  Auditors’ remuneration (inclusive of GCT)   
       Current year  11,500 7,857 
       Prior year 1,256 -     
  Board and committee meetings 12,526 12,498 
  Board and committee travelling  14,362 13,131 
  Ceremonies 3,565 3,562 
  Consultancy fees 10,150 5,592 
  Data processing  66,172 76,847 
  Depreciation and amortisation 53,657 55,299 
  Entertainment  141 147 
  General office 11,944 9,392 
  Insurance 13,604 11,365 
  Motor vehicle upkeep for travelling officers 43,539 39,039 
  Motor cycle repairs 106 372 
  Postage and telegrams 4,735 4,986 
  Repairs and maintenance 25,452 16,393 
  Security 43,183 37,309 
  Stationery and printing  12,722 19,023 
  Staff and board retreat 1,292 3,630  
  Travelling 15,414 17,182 
  Donations    7,957    6,087 
 440,798 420,996 
 
Affiliation  
  League fees 34,770 31,718 
  League and other meetings  10,565 10,659 
  Stabilization dues   23,078  17,928 
   68,413  60,305 
 
Establishment  
  Cleaning and sanitation 8,568 8,189 
  Electricity and telephone 46,203 43,219 
  Janitorial services  14,161 13,919 
  Rates and taxes    6,609     8,850 
   75,541  74,177 
 
Members’ security 
  Loans and savings insurance  90,438 84,058 
  Golden Harvest savings insurance     9,240     8,619 
   99,678   92,677 
 
Total other operating expenses 684,430 648,155 
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9. STAFF COSTS: 

   2024 2023 
    $’000 $’000 

 
Salaries and wages  382,881 346,540 
Payroll taxes 55,746 53,083 
Pension expense (note 19f) 6,259 6,167 
Staff welfare  53,056 49,595 
Other staff benefits    92,612   81,836 
 
 590,554 537,221 
The number of persons employed during the year: 

Permanent staff 110 111 
Temporary staff   12    8 
 
 122 119 

   
The Co-operative’s contribution to the defined contribution multi-employer pension plan for 
the year amounted to $7,772,000 (2023: $6,570,000). 

 
10. LIQUID ASSETS: 

   2024 2023 
    $’000 $’000 

Earnings assets at amortised cost: 
Deposits 
  JCCUL- Liquidity reserve  1,016,629 951,182 
  JCCUL- Demand deposit   754,155 553,856 
  JMMB Bank Jamaica Limited  728,128 659,381 
  Victoria Mutual Building Society  462,129 250,000  
  JCCUL – CUETS settlements       39,713      36,719  
 
  3,000,754 2,451,138 
Savings account balances (note 15a)     
The Bank of Nova Scotia Jamaica Limited   60,137 56,825 
Mayberry Investments Limited          -       .        3,836 
 
       60,137      60,661 
 
  3,060,891 2,511,799 
Less: Allowance for impairment losses (note 5a(iii))  (       1,239) (       1,334) 
 
Total earning assets at amortised cost  3,059,652 2,510,465 
 
Financial assets at fair value through surplus or deficit (profit or loss) 
Units in unit trust funds: 
  JCCUL – CUMAX money market fund         2,513       2,389 
  
  3,062,165 2,512,854 

 
JCCUL requires credit unions to hold a monthly minimum average of 8% liquidity reserves with 
the League as follows: 

 
6% in a liquidity reserve account 
2% in a demand deposit account from which regular withdrawals may be made.  
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11. RESALE AGREEMENTS: 

 
  The Co-operative enters into resale agreements collateralized by the Government of Jamaica 

securities. These agreements may result in a credit exposure in the event that the counter 
party to the transaction is unable to fulfill its collateral obligations. 

 
(a) Resale agreements comprise: 

   2024 2023 
    $’000 $’000 
 
 

 Principal    1,526,339 1,404,750 
 Less: Allowance for impairment    (         365) (         314) 
 
    1,525,974 1,404,436 

 
(b) Allowance for impairment      

 
 At beginning of the year    314 545 
 Charge/(recoveries) for the year               51 (          231) 
 
 At end of the year             365           314 
 

For purposes of the statement of cashflows, an amount of $228,829,000 (2023: $30,153,000) is 
included in cash and cash equivalents.  

 
The fair value of the underlying securities used to collateralize the resale agreements was 
$1,842,894,000 (2023: $1,615,330,000). All the securities purchased under resale agreements 
are fully collateralized by Government Securities. 

 
12. LOANS: 

   2024 2023 
    $’000 $’000 
 

Balance at beginning of year    14,676,021 13,442,839 
Add: Disbursements and transfers     4,733,766   4,533,548 
 
   19,409,787 17,976,387  
Less: Repayments and transfers    (  3,703,133) (  3,300,366) 
  
   15,706,654 14,676,021 
Less: allowance for impairment losses    (    170,700) (     248,006) 
 
Balance carried forward (page 71)   15,535,954 14,428,015 
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12. LOANS (CONT’D): 

   2024 2023 
    $’000 $’000 

 
Balance brought forward (page 70)   15,535,954 14,428,015 

    
Less unamortised loan fees: 
At the beginning of the year    (       58,666) (       34,848) 
Additions during the year   (       63,943) (       60,268) 
 
   (     122,609) (       95,116) 
Fees amortised during the year          27,610        36,450 
 
   (       94,999) (       58,666) 
  
Balance at end of year   15,440,955 14,369,349 
      
The amounts are expected to be recovered as follows: 

   2024 2023 
    $’000 $’000 
 

Within 12 months    183,044 168,813 
Over 12 months    15,352,910 14,259,202 
 
   15,535,954 14,428,015 
 
(a) The aging of the loans at the reporting date was as follows: 

    2024 2023 
   $’000 $’000 

 
Neither past due nor impaired    15,208,579 14,308,478 
Past due but not impaired: 
Less than 2 months    138,273 117,773 
2 to 3 months          98,194       93,767 
 
       236,467     211,540 
 
Individually impaired        261,608     156,003 
 
   15,706,654 14,676,021 
Less: Allowance for impairment losses 5(iii) (a)(vi)  (    170,700) (    248,006) 
 
   15,535,954 14,428,015 
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12. LOANS (CONT’D): 
 

(b) Delinquent loans 
 

The total loan loss provision derived below as at the reporting date is consistent with the 
loan loss provisioning rules of the JCCUL: 
  

                                                 2024      
 

                        Savings           Portion  
 Number of      held   of loans    PEARLS  
                   Accounts    Delinquent    against   not covered loan loss Provision 

Months in arrears in arrears loans loans by savings provision rate 
   $’000      $’000  $’000           $’000 % 

 
1 month - < 2 months 91 138,273 54,166 84,107 -    
2 – 3 months 55 98,194 41,859 56,335 9,819 10 
4 – 6 months 71 90,728 30,455 60,273 27,218 30 
7 – 12 months 61 91,875 26,850 65,025 55,125 60 

 13 months and over   37   79,005   19,323   59,682   79,005 100 

  315 498,075 172,653 325,422 171,167 

 

                                                 2023      
 

                        Savings           Portion  
 Number of      held   of loans    PEARLS  
                   Accounts    Delinquent    against   not covered loan loss Provision 

Months in arrears in arrears loans loans by savings provision rate 
   $’000      $’000  $’000           $’000 % 

 
1 month - < 2 months  103 117,464 22,106 95,358 -     
2 – 3 months 73 93,767 14,686 79,081 9,377 10 
4 – 6 months  86 141,859 16,884 124,975 42,558 30 
7 – 12 months 96 132,701 25,153 107,548 79,621 60 

 13 months and over     38   64,362   9,654   54,708   64,362 100 

  396 550,153 88,483 461,670 195,918 

 
The interest in respect of non-performing loans which had not been recognised in 
the surplus for the year was $19,040,000 (2023: $18,962,000). Loans on which 
interest is suspended amounted to $261,608,000 (2023: $338,923,000).   
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12. LOANS (CONT’D): 

 
(c) Allowance for impairment  

 
The movement in the allowance for impairment determined under the requirements of 
IFRS is as follows: 
 

    2024 2023 
    $’000 $’000 
 

Balance at 1 January    248,006 225,004 
Charged to surplus during the year    53,922 103,407 
Amounts written off during the year   (131,228) (  80,405) 
 
   170,700 248,006 
 
The allowance for impairment under the JCCUL regulatory requirement for the current 
year exceeded the provision required under IFRS provisioning rules by $467,000 which is 
immaterial. The excess of the regulatory provision over the IFRS provision is normally 
dealt with through a transfer between accumulated surplus and loan loss reserve.  
 

13. FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS:        
   2024 2023 
    $’000 $’000 

 
(a) Investments securities at fair value though other  

 comprehensive income: 
 Quality Network Co-operative Limited  
 (“QNET”) shares (note a)   2,472 2,472 
  Jamaica Co-operative Insurance Agency Limited  
 (JCIA) (note b)   3,000 3,000 
  Cumax Wealth Management Limited (CUMAX) (Note d)     3,859     3,859 
 
       9,331     9,331 
Government of Jamaica Securities:     
  Benchmark investment note   308,455 310,485 
  Global bonds   101,558 103,624 
 
   410,013 414,109 
 
Balance carried forward (page 74)   419,344 423,440 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
Page 74 

 
JAMAICA TEACHERS’ ASSOCIATION CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED  

 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
31 DECEMBER 2024 

 
 

 
13. FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS (CONT’D):    

   2024 2023 
    $’000 $’000 

 
(a) Investments at fair value through other  

comprehensive income balance forward (page 73)  419,344 423,440 
 

Investment securities at fair value through surplus or deficit  
  (profit or loss): 
  JCCUL shares (note c)   9,955 9,955 
  Units in Unit Trust Funds: 
  Units held with JMMB Fund Managers Limited     48,367   44,032 
 
     58,322   53,987 
Investments securities at amortised cost: 
  Government of Jamaica – Treasury bill   -       79,398 
  JCCUL – Mortgage funds (note e)   10,001 9,754 
  The Victoria Mutual building Society Mortgage deposit    37,698   34,867 
 
   47,699 124,019 
  Less: Allowance for impairment losses  (    1,353) (   1,287) 

 
    46,346 122,732 
 
  524,012 600,159 
 
(b) The amounts are due to be recovered as follows:  

   2024 2023 
    $’000 $’000 

 
Within 12 months    114,392 157,010 
Over 12 months    409,620 443,149 

 
   524,012 600,159 
 
(c) Certain investment securities at fair value through other  comprehensive income as seen 

below is pledged as collateral  for line credit borrowed from JCCUL: 
 

i) Benchmark investment note (95% of total nominal amounts equivalent to 
$230m). 

 
ii) Global bonds (85% of total nominal amounts equivalent to US$568,000). See note 

23(b). 
 



 

Page 75 

 
JAMAICA TEACHERS’ ASSOCIATION CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED  

 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
31 DECEMBER 2024 

 

 
13. FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS (CONT’D):  

 
(a) The QNET investment represents shares purchased from a private share offering. 

 
(b) This represents shares purchased in JCIA from a share offer underwritten by the JCCUL. 

 
(c) A minimum of 1,000,000 shares, each with a par value of $1.00, must be held with the 

JCCUL for the Co-operative to retain membership status. 
 

(d) CUMAX investment represents shares purchased from a private share offering. During the 
year, an additional of 659,000 shares were acquired of a par value of $1. 

 
(e) The rules of JCCUL stipulate that the Co-operative must invest 5% of the net increase in 

the members’ share accounts in the JCCUL Mortgage Fund instruments. These 
instruments are  used to  secure joint  mortgage  facilities, which  are  extended  to  the  
members of the Co-operative. 
 

 
14. INVESTMENT PROPERTY:        

   2024 2023 
    $’000 $’000 

 
Cost - 
At 1 January   7,208 10,012 
Transfer from/(to) property, plant and equipment (note 17)    5,547 (  2,804) 
 
At 31 December   12,755   7,208 

 
Accumulated depreciation - 
1 January   2,943 4,268 

            Charge for the year   134 -     
            Transfer from/(to) property, plant and equipment (note 17)    3,041 (  1,325) 
 
            31 December     6,118   2,943 
              
            Net book value  
            31 December     6,637   4,265 
 
 In prior year, investment property located at Shop 26, 3 Bryan’s Crescent, May Pen, 

Clarendon was transferred to property,  plant and equipment at its carrying value.  
 
During the year, building located at Portmore was sublet and transferred to investment 
property at carrying value.  
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTY (CONT’D):    
 
 An independent valuation of the properties was done as follows: 
 
                                                      Location 
   Date of valuation  Surveyor  of property        Fair value 
 
   December 13, 2022  Oliver’s Property Services    North Street  $41.0M 
 

November 9, 2023 Silver’s Property Services Shop 24A & 25A 
       Portmore Hall Portmore,  
       St. Catherine  $21.0M 

 
The fair value of real estate was determined by independent, licenced real estate dealers, with 
appropriate recognised professional qualifications and experience and is classified as Level 3 in 
the fair value hierarchy. 

 
The following table shows the valuation techniques used in measuring the fair value of 
investment property, as well as the significant unobservable inputs used. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Valuation techniques Significant unobservable inputs

  

Inter-relationship between 

key unobservable inputs and 

fair value measurement 

 

Market based approach.  This 

model takes into account: 

 

• A willing seller and buyer; 

 

• A reasonable period in 

which to negotiate a sale, 

taking into account the 

nature of the property and 

state of the market; 

 

• Values are expected to 

remain stable throughout the 

period of market exposure 

and disposal by sale 

(hypothetical); 

 

•  The property will be freely 

exposed to the market; and 

 

• Potential rental value of 

the property in the current 

investment climate. 

• Judgements if the property 

can be sold, exchanged, 

transferred, let, mortgaged or 

used for any other economic 

activity, within its use class. 

 

• The potential rental value 

of the property in the current 

investment climate. 

  

The estimated fair value 

would increase/(decrease) 

if: 

 

• The potential rental value 

of the property 

increased/(decreased). 

 

• Judgement about what the 

property can be sold, 

exchanged, let, mortgaged, 

which had been determined 

to be better/(worse). 
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTY (CONT’D):    

 

The income earned from the properties, one of which is leased under operating lease amounted 
to $999,000 (2023: $1,014,000) (see note 7). Direct operating expenses arising from the 
properties during the year amounted to Nil (2023: Nil).  

 
15. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS:    
 

    2024 2023 
  $’000 $’000 
 

Cash in hand   2,119 6,148 
Bank balance   33,070 36,958 
 
  35,189 43,106 
Bank overdraft   (  1,082) (     284) 
 
  34,107 42,822 

 
(a) Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows is represented by: 

 
  2024 2023 
  $’000 $’000 

 
 Repurchase agreements (note 11)  228,829 30,153 
 Cash and cash equivalents (above)  34,107 42,822 
 Liquid assets – savings account balances (note 10)   60,137   60,661 
 
   323,073 133,636 
 

(b) At the reporting date cash and cash equivalents included amounts totaling $7,323,000 
(2023: $6,470,000) which represent amounts due to the Ministry of Education, Youth & 
Information, that are not available to Co-operative for operational use (see note 24). 
 

(c) Bank overdraft arose from unpresented cheques. 
 

16. OTHER ASSETS:    
  2024 2023 
  $’000     $’000    

 
Deposits and prepayment  40,126 35,980 
Interest receivable   142,964 219,900 
Sundry receivables      3,932     6,014 

 
  187,022 261,894 
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17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT:    

 
     Office  
   Construction  Furniture  
  Freehold in Leasehold and  
        Land Buildings Progress Improvements Equipment Total 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000    $’000 $’000 

   
Cost -      

1 January 2023   3,381 83,042 297,134 72,759 267,574 723,890 
Additions -     -      34,115 -      7,069 41,184 
Transfer from investment 
 properties (note 14) -     2,804 -      -      -      2,804  
Disposal        -    .     -     .             -     .     -     . (    1,428) (    1,428) 

 
31 December 2023 3,381 85,846 331,249 72,759 273,215 766,450 
Additions -     55 156,933 544 12,251 169,783 
Transfer from investment 
 properties (note 14) -     (  5,547) -      -      -      (    5,547) 
Transfers in/(out) -     -      (  10,758) 10,758 -      -       
Disposal        -    .     -     .             -     .     -     . (       347) (       347) 
 
31 December 2024 3,381 80,354 477,424 84,061 285,119 930,339 

 
Accumulated depreciation 

1 January 2023    -     20,905      -      48,043 178,552 247,500 
Charge for the year -     3,605 -      5,233 25,149 33,987 
Transfer from investment 
 properties (note 14) -     1,325 -      -      -      1,325 
Disposal        -    .     -     .             -     .     -     . (    1,428) (    1,428) 
 
31 December 2023 -     25,835 -      53,276 202,273 281,384 
Charge for the year -     2,147 -      5,854 23,518 31,519 
Transfer from investment 
properties (note 14) -     (  3,041) -      -      -      (    3,041) 
Disposal        -    .     -     .             -     .     -     . (       347) (       347) 
 
31 December 2024    -    . 24,941       -     . 59,130 225,444 309,515 

 
Net Book Value: 

31 December 2024 3,381 55,413 477,424 24,931   59,675 620,824 
 
31 December 2023 3,381 60,011 331,249 19,483   70,942 485,066 

 
Construction in progress represents costs incurred to date for the property, at Constant Spring Road 
and developments at Portmore office. Future capital commitment expenditures is expected to 
amount to $399,224,000 (note 31). 
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18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS:    
   
  Software 
  Rights  
         $’000         
 

Cost - 
31 December 2023  73,351 
Addition   12,058 
 
31 December 2024  85,409 

 
Accumulated amortisation -   

1 January 2023  57,662 
Charge for the year    7,335 
 
31 December 2023  64,997 
Charge for the year    4,564 
 
31 December 2024  69,561 

 
Net book value -   

31 December 2024  15,848   
 
31 December 2023    8,354   

    
 

19. EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT ASSET:    
 

The Co-operative provides for post-retirement benefit through a defined benefit pension plan, 
managed by the JCCUL. The plan is funded by contributions from the Co-operative and 
permanent employees in accordance with the rules of the plan. Under the plan, employees are 
entitled to retirement benefits based on 1.85% of their final 3 year average salary per year of 
contributory service. Effective 31 December 2016, the defined benefit pension plan was closed 
to new members. New employees participate in a defined contribution multi-employer pension 
plan operated by JCCUL.  
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19. EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT ASSET (CONT’D):    
 
(a)   The amounts recognized in the statement of financial position are determined as 

follows: 
 

  2024 2023 
  $’000     $’000    

 
      Present value of funded obligations (note c) (1,195,183) (1,044,833) 
 Effects of asset ceiling    -        (       1,896)  
 Fair value of plan assets (note e (i))  1,291,817 1,213,908 
 
 Asset in the statement of financial position       96,634    167,179 
 
(b) Movement in the amounts recognized in the statement of financial position: 

 
    2024 2023 
  $’000     $’000    

 
      Balance at beginning of year   167,179 57,813 
 Contributions paid   15,839 16,048 
 Pension expense recognized in surplus (note (f)) (    6,259) (    6,167) 
 Remeasurement recognized in other  
            comprehensive income (note (g))  (  80,125)   99,485 
     
 Balance at end of year     96,634 167,179 
 
(c) Movement in the present value of funded obligations: 

 
    2024 2023 
  $’000     $’000    

 
Balance at beginning of year   1,044,833 702,466 

 Service costs  18,838 9,149 
 Interest cost   111,967 87,580 
 Employees’ contributions  14,475 14,517 
 Benefits paid   (     53,902) (     57,548) 
 Actuarial losses/(gains) arising from: 
    Experience adjustments   (     28,932) 10,405 
    Changes in financial assumptions        87,904    278,264 
 
 Balance at end of year   1,195,183 1,044,833 
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19. EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT ASSET (CONT’D):    
 

(d) The movement in the asset ceiling is as follows: 
 
   2024 2023 
  $’000     $’000 
 

Effect of asset ceiling at beginning of period  1,896 398,302  
Interest on effect of asset ceiling 209 51,779  
Change in effect of asset ceiling (2,105) (448,185) 
 
Effect of asset ceiling at end of period    -    .    1,896 

 
(e) (i)   Movement in fair value of pension plan assets: 

 
  2024 2023 
  $’000     $’000    
 

 Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year  1,213,908 1,158,581 
 Employees’ contribution   14,475 14,517 
 Employer’s contribution  15,839 16,048 
 Interest income   132,233 148,862 
 Benefits paid   (    53,902) (    57,548) 
 Administrative expenses  (      7,478) (      6,521) 
 Actuarial losses  (    23,258) (    60,031) 
 
 Fair value of plan assets at end of year 1,291,817 1,213,908 
 

(ii) Plan assets consist of the following: 
  2024 2023 
  $’000     $’000    

 
 Quoted equities  291,778 248,508 
 Real estate investment trust   17,982 13,446 
 Government of Jamaica securities 415,144 440,522 
 Resale agreements   88,132 61,569 
 Investment properties   299,112 277,588 
 Global bonds   56,352 67,609  
 J$ certificates of deposit  131,691 37,197 
 Unit trust   118,865 75,503 
 Other   (   127,239) (      8,034) 
 
   1,291,817 1,213,908 
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19. EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT ASSET (CONT’D):    
 
(f) Expense recognized in surplus or deficit:   

 
  2024 2023 
  $’000     $’000    

 
Current service cost   18,838 9,149 

 Interest cost on obligation   111,967 87,580 
 Interest income on plan assets  (132,233) (148,862) 
 Interest on effect of asset ceiling  209 51,779 
 Administrative expenses     7,478    6,521 
 

Net pension expense included in staff costs (note 9)    6,259    6,167 
 
(g) Amounts recognized in other comprehensive income:  

 
  2024 2023 
  $’000     $’000    

 
      Change in effect of asset ceiling   (  2,105) (448,185) 
 Remeasured losses on obligation   58,972 288,669 
 Remeasured losses on plan assets  23,258   60,031 
  
   80,125 (  99,485) 
     
(h) As mortality continues to improve, estimates of life expectancy are expected to   

 increase. The effect on the projected benefit obligation of an increase of one year in the 
 life expectancy is approximately $33,350,000 (2023: $28,410,000). 
 

(i) The principal actuarial assumptions (expressed as weighted averages) used were as 
 follows:  

 
   2024 2023 
  

      Discount rate   9.5% 11.0% 
 Expected future salary increases  7.0% 8.0% 
 Price inflation  5.0% 6.0% 
 Expected future pension increases  5.0%   6.0% 
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19. EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT ASSET (CONT’D): 
 

(j) Sensitivity analysis on projected benefit obligation  
 
The calculation of the projected benefit obligation is sensitive to the assumptions used. 
The table below summarizes how the projected benefit benefit obligation measured at 
the end of the reporting period would have increased/(decreased) as a result of a 
change in the respective assumptions by one percentage point. In preparing the analyses 
for each assumption, all others were held constant. The economic assumptions are 
somewhat linked as they are all related to inflation. Hence, for example, a 1% reduction 
in the long-term discount rate would cause some reduction in the medical trend rate.  
 

                   2024                              2023  
  1% 1% 1% 1% 
  Decrease Increase Decrease Increase 
  $’000 $’000 $’000  $’000 
 

  Discount rate  195,480 (154,821)  163,553 (130,394) 
  Future salary increases (  53,354) 61,023  (  44,465) 50,677 
  Future pension increases (101,059) 117,575  (  85,555)   99,331 

 
 
(k) Liability duration 
 

   2024 2023 
    Years Years 

 
      Active members  20.3 19.5 
 Deferred pensioners  15.8 17.1 
 Retirees  9.0 8.8 
 All participants  15.9 15.5 
 
 
(l) The estimated pension contributions expected to be paid into the plan during the next 

 financial year is $15,330,000 (2023: $15,280,000). 
 

20. LEASES:    

 
 The Co-operative leases office space for its various branches.  The leases typically run for a 

period of 1-5 years.  Previously, the leases were classified as operating leases under IAS 17. The 
discount rate used is 9%. 

 
Leases as lessee (IFRS 16) 
  
 
   
 
 
 
 



 

 
Page 84 

 
JAMAICA TEACHERS’ ASSOCIATION CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED  

 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
31 DECEMBER 2024 

 
 

20. LEASES (CONT’D):    
 
(i) Right-of-use assets  

 
Right‑of‑use assets related to leased properties that do not meet the definition of investment 
property. 

 
  2024 2023 
  $’000     $’000    

 
Balance at 1 January   21,082 14,005 

 New right-of-use assets  11,902 28,389 
 Amortisation charge for the year   (22,004) (21,312) 
 

Balance at 31 December  10,980 21,082 
  

(ii) Lease liabilities   
 

Undiscounted cashflows of lease liabilities: 
 

  2024 2023 
  $’000     $’000    

 
      Less than one year  3,889 26,345 
 One to five years  23,592 18,555 
 Six to ten years    3,650      450 
 
 Total undiscounted lease liabilities  31,131 45,350 
 Discount  (11,860) (12,834) 
 
 Carrying amount of lease liabilities   19,271 32,516 
  
(iii) Amounts recognized in surplus or deficit:   

  2024 2023 
  $’000     $’000    

 
      Interest on lease liabilities     3,090   5,391 
   
(iv) Amounts recognized in statements of cash flows: 

    
Total cash outflow for leases  28,237 24,423 
 

(v) Extension options  
 

Some property leases contain extension options exercisable by the Co-operative up to one 
year before the end of the non-cancellable contract period. Where practicable, the co-
operative seeks to include extension options in new leases to provide operational 
flexibility. The extension options held are exercisable only by the Co-operative and not by 
the lessors. The Co-operative assesses at lease commencement date whether it is 
reasonably certain to exercise the extension options. The Co-operative reassesses whether 
it is reasonably certain to exercise the options if there is a significant event or significant 
changes in circumstances within its control.     
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20. LEASES (CONT’D):    
 
(vi) Short-term leases: 

   
The Co-operative has elected not to recognise right‑of‑use assets and lease liabilities 

for leases that are short‑term. 
 
 

21. MEMBERS’ DEPOSITS: 
  2024 2023 
 $’000     $’000 
 

Ordinary deposits -   
       At beginning of year  388,181 320,170 
       Add: savings and interest     859,662   727,513 

 
 1,247,843 1,047,683 

Less: withdrawals and transfers (   844,927) (  659,502) 
 

At end of year  402,916 388,181 
Golden Harvest Plan  1,664,756 1,634,794 
Special fixed deposits  5,343,850 4,991,628 

  
 7,411,522 7,014,603 
       

 The amounts are due to be settled as follows: 
 

  2024 2023 
  $’000     $’000    
 

Within 12 months 5,670,934 5,354,539 
 Over 12 months  1,740,588 1,660,064 
 
  7,411,522 7,014,603 
    

22. MEMBERS’ VOLUNTARY SHARES:    
  2024 2023 

  $’000     $’000    
 

At beginning of year  8,370,569 7,724,222 
 Add: savings 2,604,756 2,181,212 
         Interest       234,542      218,002 
 
  11,209,867 10,123,436 
 Less: withdrawals and transfers (  2,052,584) (  1,752,867) 
 
 At end of year    9,157,283   8,370,569 
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23. EXTERNAL CREDITS:  
  2024 2023 
  $’000     $’000    

 
 

JMMB Bank commercial mortgage loan (a) 204,808 212,662 
JCCUL commercial loan (b) 246,526      -     . 
 
  451,334 212,662 
    
The amounts are due to be settled as follows: 
  2024 2023 
  $’000     $’000    
 
Within 12 months 30,052 7,855 
Over 12 months  421,282 204,807 

 
  451,334 212,662 
 

(a) The Co-operative procured a mortgage loan from JMMB Bank in 2023 to assist with 
financing the acquisition of a building on Constant Spring Road in Kingston, to house 
the head office and a branch. The cost of the property was $280 million.  The 
mortgage principal is $224 million representing 80% of the cost of the property. The 
loan attracts interest of 9.75% (2023: 9.75%) per annum with maturity on 11 August 
2037.  

 
The loan is secured by: 

 
i) First legal mortgage to be stamped to cover $224,000,000 over commercial 

property located at 107 Constant Spring Road Kingston 10 St. Andrew 
registered at volume 1185 Folio 187 in the name of Jamaica Teachers’ 
Association Co-operative Credit Union Limited.   

 
ii) Assignment of Fire and allied perils Insurnace over commercial property at 

107 Constant Spring Road, Kingtson 10, St. Andrew for the full replacement 
value with JMMB Bank’s interest as First Mortgage.  

 
(b) The Co-operative obtained a line of credit from Jamaica Co-operative Credit Union League 

Limited (JCCUL) to assist with the financing of office space expansion and construction at 
the Constant Spring Road property in Kingston, to house head office. The mortgage 
principal amounts to $300 million, which will be disbursed in three (3) tranches as follows: 

 
i) First tranche - $218.5 million on 6 May 2024 

ii) Second tranche - $37.8 million on 22 July 2024 

iii) Third tranche - $43.7 million in 2025 

The line of credit attracts a fixed interest rate of 9.75% per annum and covers a period of 
8 years and 6 months. 
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23. EXTERNAL CREDITS (CONT’D): 
 

(b) The line of credit is secured by the following: 
 

i) 95% of the nominal value ($80m) of GOJ FR 9.625% bond maturing in 2031, 

ii) 95% of the nominal value ($150m) of GOJ FR 11.75% bond maturing in 2053, 

iii) 85% of the nominal value (US$130,000) of GOJ FR bond maturing in 2036, 

iv) 85% of the nominal value (US$180,000) of GOJ FR bond maturing in 2039 and 

v) 85% of the nominal value (US$258,000) of GOJ FR bond maturing in 2036. 

See note 13(c). 

24. PAYABLES: 
           2024             2023  
       $’000            $’000 

 
Accrued charges  112,066 37,518 
Interest payable  21,619 20,477 
Withholding tax  5,749 5,449 
Ministry of Education, Youth & Information refunds (note 15(b)) 7,323 6,470 
JTS Housing savings deposits  8,112 8,112 
Youth savings deposits  287 351 
Insurance  17,306 15,606 
Other payables  135,625 147,800 

 
 308,087 241,783 

25. INSTITUTIONAL CAPITAL: 
                                                                                        2024             2023  
                                                                                    $’000            $’000   

 
       (a)   Members’ permanent shares      95,416      91,993 
 
       (b) Statutory reserve -   
               Balance at beginning of year  2,891,057 2,697,342 
              Transfer from current year surplus  228,238 193,700 
               Entrance fees            20            15 
      

Balance at end of year 3,119,315 2,891,057 
 
  3,214,731 2,983,050 
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25. INSTITUTIONAL CAPITAL (CONT’D): 
  

(a)     Permanent shares  
 

Permanent shares are paid in cash and are not redeemable but may be transferred or 
sold to another member.  

 
(b)     Statutory reserve  

 
As required by the Co-operative Societies Act and the rules of the Co-operative, a 
minimum of twenty (20%) of the annual surplus and amounts collected for entrance 
fees are transferred to this reserve. An additional amount was transferred from 
undistributed surplus, so as to maintain a statutory reserve of 15% of total assets, as 
agreed at the Annual General Meeting.  

 
26. NON-INSTITUTIONAL CAPITAL: 
                                                                                        2024                  2023  
                                                                                    $’000                 $’000   

 
(a) Accumulated surplus  798,926 784,121  
(b) Employee benefits asset reserve  96,634 167,179 
(c) Fair value reserve 54,940 58,512 
(d) Loan loss reserve -       -       
(e) Revaluation reserve 9,430 9,430 
(f) Permanent share reserve     3,000       3,035 

 
  962,930 1,022,277 
 

(a) Accumulated surplus 
 
This represents undistributed surplus. 
 

(b) Employee benefits asset reserve 
 

The employee benefits asset reserve represents pension surplus arising on the IAS 19 
actuarial valuation of the pension plan in which the Co-operative participates. A 
portion of the annual changes in the value of the plan is shown in the surplus for the 
year, then transferred to this reserve, while the other portion is shown in other 
comprehensive income.  
 

(c) Fair value reserve 
 
This represents the unrealized gains or losses on the revaluation of FVOCI 
investments.  

 
(d) Loan loss reserve 

 
This represents the excess of the regulatory loan loss provision over IFRS 9 
requirements. However, no provision has been made as the IFRS 9 provision is in 
excess of the PEARLS requirements. 
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26. NON-INSTITUTIONAL CAPITAL (CONT’D): 
  

(e) Revaluation reserve 
 

This represents surplus arising on revaluation of land and building, prior to December 
31, 2001. 
 

(f)     Permanent share reserve  
 

This represents an amount set aside from surplus to be ascribed as permanent shares 
for members. 

 
27. DIVIDENDS: 
 

At the Annual General Meeting held on 18 May 2024 (2023: 10 June 2023) the members moved 
a motion to pay dividends of $6,452,000 (2023: $6,256,000). 

 
28. INSURANCE: 
  

(a) Fidelity insurance coverage  
 

During the year, the Co-operative had fidelity insurance coverage with Jamaica Co-
operative Insurance Agency Limited. The total premium for the year was $200,000 
(2023: $200,000). 
 

(b) Life savings and loan protection coverage 
 

During the year, the Co-operative had life savings and loan protection coverage with 
Cuna Mutual Insurance Co-operative Limited. Total premium for the year was 
$90,430,000 (2023: $84,058,000). 
 

(c) Golden harvest plan insurance coverage  
 

During the year, the Co-operative had Golden Harvest Plan insurance coverage with 
Cuna Mutual Insurance Co-operative Limited. The total premium for the year was 
$12,765,000 (2023: $12,006,000). 

 
These policies remained in force throughout the year with all premiums being paid promptly.  
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29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES: 
 
 The Co-operative entered into the following transactions with related parties: 
 

(a) Key management personnel: 
  
                                                                                        2024           2023 
                                                                                    $’000          $’000   
 

Loan balances 20,007 19,998  
Members deposits  20,219 17,679 
Permanent shares 14 14 
Voluntary shares  8,119 6,990 
Interest earned from loans  1,409 1,372 
Interest paid on deposits      967     931 
   

(b) At the reporting date, 15 (2023: 15) members of the Co-operative’s Board of 
Directors and 12 (2023: 10) committee members had balances and transactions with 
the Co-operative as follows: 

 
                                                         2024           2023 
                                                                                    $’000          $’000   

 
Members deposits  61,353 61,723 
Permanent shares  227 221 
Voluntary shares  35,346 32,383 
Loans including accrued interest  165,194 142,779 
Interest paid on deposits 3,142 2,763 
Interest earned from loans    15,373   12,728 

 
During the year, no director, committee member or staff received loans which 
necessitated waiver of the loan policy. The secured loans to directors, committee 
members and staff were $495,492,000 (2023: $448,433,000) and unsecured loans 
were $119,298,000 (2023: $124,827,000) and were being repaid in accordance with 
their loan agreements. No impairment has been recognized on related party 
balances. 
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29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES (CONT’D: 
 

(c) Compensation of key management personnel: 
 

The remuneration of key members of management personnel (included in staff costs) during 
the year was as follow: 
  
 2024 2023 
 $’000 $’000 
 
Salaries and other short term benefits  72,690 57,184 
Post-employment benefits    4,217   3,900 
 
 76,907 61,084 
   
This represents employer’s contributions to the multi-employer defined benefit and 
defined contribution plans.     

 
30. COMPARISON OF LEDGER BALANCES: 

 
The detail records of balances relating to loans to members, deposits and members’ voluntary shares 
compared with their respective control accounts were as follows: 

   
     Members 
     Loans to       Members Voluntary 
   Members Deposits shares   
   $’000 $’000 $’000 
 

  Balance as per general ledger 15,706,655 7,411,522 9,157,283 
  Balance as per members’ ledger 15,706,655 7,411,522 9,157,283 
 
  Variances at 31 December 2024        -        .       -       .       -       . 
 
  Variances at 31 December 2023        -        .       -       .       -       . 

 
31. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS: 

 
As at 31 December 2024 the Co-operative entered into contracts for expenditure in the amount 
of $399,224,000 (2023: $399,224,000) in respect of which expenditure amounting to 
$139,910,000 (2023: $30,950,000) have been made (see note 17). 
 
At 31 December 2024, loan commitments to members were $74,601,000 (2023: $18,962,000). 
 

 


